

**Board Diversity in Crisis:** 

# 'Can female directors take care of companies during the Covid-19 pandemic?'

J.R. Meijer

556267

MSc Thesis Financial Economics

Erasmus School of Economics, Erasmus University Rotterdam



Supervisor: D.L. Urban

Co-reader: C.S. Pfeil

1 May 2022

The views stated in this thesis are those of the author and not necessarily those of the supervisor, second assessor, Erasmus School of Economics or Erasmus University Rotterdam.

Keywords: female directors, firm value, board of directors, Covid-19

JEL Classification: G32, G34

# Abstract

This paper analyses the impact of female board representation on firm value and performance in the US market during the Covid-19 pandemic. This is done by analysing female directors in 1118 unique boards in 2020. Six selected events in the Covid-19 pandemic are used to regress female director variables on the cumulative abnormal returns of public firms. As much research on female leadership suggests positive implications for corporations, efficient markets are expected to reflect female representation in US boardrooms. Additional analysis is done into the cross-sectional effects of identified industries connected to female representation identified by Chen, Leung, Song and Goergen (2019). Overall, the results for female directors are negative or significant for the selected events. As the dynamics of the selected events differ substantially, strong conclusions on higher firm value through female representation in boards cannot be made. The paper find positive significant returns for firms with female CEOs in Covid-19. This is in line with literature on female leadership in crisis.. However, the methods in this paper and the analysed economic environment of the pandemic are limited. As female board representation continues to grow and much research do associate female directors with internal and external organisational benefits, future research into the direct relationship between diverse boards is required and has to potential to facilitate academic arguments to accelerate gender diversity in the board room.

# **Table of Contents**

1.	Introduction	4
2.	Literature Review	7
2	.1 Corporate Governance & Firm Performance	7
	2.1.1 Boards in crisis	8
2	.2 Female Directors	9
	2.2.1 Female Board Representation	. 10
	2.2.2 Gender differences	.11
2	.3 Financial Markets & Investors	.13
	2.3.1 Financial Markets in turmoil	.13
	2.3.2 Economic beliefs about gender	.14
2	.4 Hypotheses	. 15
2		.16
3.	Data and Methodology	.18
3	.1 Data Collection	.18
3	2.2 Variable definitions	. 19
3	.3 Descriptive Statistics	. 20
3	.4 Methodology	.23
4.	Results	.26
4	.1 Univariate analysis	.26
4	.2 Baseline results	. 29
	4.2.1 FemaleRatio	. 29
	4.2.2 Min3FDs	. 29
	4.2.3 FemaleCEO	. 30
4	.3 Full model results	.31
	4.3.1 FemaleRatio and full models	. 32
	4.3.2 Min3FDs and full models	. 32
	4.3.3 FemaleCEO and full models	.33
4	.4 Cross-sectional analysis of female representation	.35
	4.4.1 Female representation in Overconfidence Industries	.35
	4.4.2 Female representation in Close-to-Customer Industries	. 39
5.	Discussion & Limitations	.42
6.	Conclusion	.45
Ref	erences	.46
Ap	pendix	.55
A	Appendix A	.55
A	Appendix B	. 57

# **1. Introduction**

Female representation in boardrooms is historically limited but improving. 29% of US directors in 2021 were women, up from 19% in 2014 (BoardEx, 2021). This significant increase in recent years portrays the efforts of corporations to transform female directors (FDs) from gender minority to male counterweights in board rooms. MSCI estimated in 2020 that global female representation on boards can reach 50% for the first time in 2039 (Women on Boards: 2020 Progress Report, 2020). Academic insights should anticipate and contribute by recognising diverse boards' corporate and cultural mechanisms. An increasing body of literature on female representation already associates FDs with positive effects on internal management, shareholder management, and corporate governance. Within organisations, female leadership is connected to mitigating employee layoffs (Matsa & Miller, 2013), increasing R&D investments (Miller & Triana, 2013), and impacting CEO behaviour (Chen, Leung, & Song, 2019). Additionally, female directors improve corporate strategy as they are associated with an improved firm reputation (Hill & Jones, 1992; Heugens et al., 2004), lower bid premiums and even are less likely to make offers in the first place (Levi, Li & Zhang, 2014). Moreover, having female directors on the board is relevant for markets, too, as FDs increase informativeness on stock prices (Gul, Srinidhi & Ng., 2011) and improve shareholder management by better reflecting shareholder interests (Rindova, 1999; Carter, 2006). As female directors are still considered a minority, it is evident that, besides ethical arguments, firms have plenty of economic incentives to pay attention to female directors.

However, gender differences do not automatically reveal causal relationships between firm performance and firm value. Female directors are still minorities on boards (Adam & Ferreira, 2009; Chen et al., 2019). According to McKinsey & Company, increasing the share of female executives and directors is challenging as the path to promotion is more difficult for junior female employees (*Women in the workplace 2021*, LeanIn.Org & McKinsey, 2021). Investors are aware of the scarcity on the executive level as finding suitable replacements can be time-consuming. Schmid and Urban (in press) present evidence supporting this as they find significant negative abnormal stock returns after female directors pass away compared to male directors. Their research is an example of a director-centred event study on gender-diverse boards. In contrast, little research investigates how the markets value diverse boards in crisis within short event windows. As the pandemic is still ongoing, it is impossible to include the whole period and analyse performance measures via reporting or market valuation (as Chen et al. did for the GFC, 2019). Therefore, this paper will be using short-term event studies to capture investor behaviour on female representation.

The Covid-19 pandemic hit the globalised world at an unparalleled level. A pandemic has spread to all corners of the world, challenging people, governments and economies. When the debate on gender diversity is more relevant than ever, such a health crisis creates an experimental situation to assess new effects of the unprecedented levels of female representation at US corporations. Leadership in crisis requires a distinctive way of people and stakeholder management. A recent paper by Chen et al. (2019)

finds a positive relationship between FDs and lower CEO overconfidence, mitigating the firm's risk profile during the Global Financial Crisis (GFC). The relevance of these findings is highlighted by the publication by Harvard Business Review (Research: When Women Are on Boards, Male CEOs Are Less Overconfident, 2021). As the GFC served as the latest crisis for research on board compositions and firm performance, the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic can become highly relevant to investigating the increased female representation. Papers on the pandemic are naturally limited at this time, but reports already suggest possible distinctions between female and male leadership. For example, an extensive 360-degree review analysis published in the Harvard Business Review (Research: Women Are Better Leaders During a Crisis, 2020; conducted by leadership development consultancy company Zenger/Folkman) evaluated gender competencies during the Covid-19 pandemic. They present statistically significant differences between the personal competencies favouring female leadership styles during crises. The World Economic Forum even uses these findings on female leadership as a critical component for strategies in tackling climate change and future crises. These are just examples highlighting the importance and relevance of new research into diverse boards and crises. The Covid-19 crisis is a unique opportunity to analyse all-time highs of female representation. The pandemic is a exogenous shock and has affected the complete word, experimental characteristics generally not easily found in economics. This makes the Covid-19 crisis highly interesting. Gender traits could work out differently in times of high uncertainty. If female leadership appears beneficial for corporations, efficient markets should reflect higher firm values for diverse boards. Therefore, the main research question of this paper is: "Do female directors positively impact firm value during the Covid-19 crisis?". This research aims to contribute to the existing literature on diverse boards in the US by investigating if female directors affect firm valuation in crisis.

To answer this research question, data on board composition is critical. Former papers include data on any female presence in their models as female directors were limited represented in board rooms. Conducting this research during the Covid-19 pandemic considers the substantial increase in female representation and will introduce a new variable. In total, three variables will be used to find any relationship between the level of female representation and the cumulative abnormal returns of firms. The analysis will be done using US S&P 1500 firms and stock data on six select events ranging from January to November 2020. The events reflect pandemic-related key dates with nationwide relevance. The first event used is the declaration of the World Health Organisation (WHO) on Covid-19 as a health emergency on January 30th. The final event is the official inauguration of US President Joe Biden on November 7th.

The paper is constructed as follows. First, an extensive literature review in Section 2 will present historical findings on governance, its relation to performance, how gender can impact top-level management and the mechanisms of financial markets. Secondly, Section 3 will elaborate on what data and methods are used to construct models and derive results to find support for expectations. Thirdly,

the results are presented and include additional cross-sectional analyses (Section 4). Fourth, in Section 5, there is a discussion of the implications of the findings, possible explanations for results, the papers' limitations and suggestions for further research. Lastly, the conclusion is presented in Section 6.

# 2. Literature Review

This chapter highlights the academic context relevant to constructing and answering the research questions. Corporate governance, firm performance, and gender diversity in the US are highly researched topics in academic literature and offer a solid base of scientific and economic intelligence to continue discovering drivers of corporate governance and investor behaviour. This paper will answer the research question: "*Do female directors positively impact firm value during the Covid-19 crisis?*". The findings contribute to governance and gender diversity by analysing firm valuation and financial performance in crises. The remaining part of this section is as follows. First, the academic background of this subject will be discussed in three main themes: Corporate Governance & Firm Performance, Female Directors, and Financial Markets & Investors. Following, after exploring these themes in-depth, the hypotheses will be constructed and selected events will be discussed.

# 2.1 Corporate Governance & Firm Performance

Boards are key organs of corporate organisations as they monitor and provide resources to the firm (Hillman & Dalziel, 2003; Williamson, 1983, 1984). In the US, the American Bar Association has defined the responsibilities of boards as supervisors of executive management. Following their definition, the function and focus of a board should be in the best interest of the firm and include recruitment, delegation and evaluation of day-to-day leadership, managing idiosyncratic risks, and overseeing strategy and reputation (American Bar Association, 2009). However, a boards' effectiveness is often explained by factors such as board size (Coles et al., 2008; Conyon & Peck, 1998; Guest, 2009; Harris & Raviv, 2006; Kini et al., 1995), director independence (Agrawel & Knoeber, 1996; Fama, 1980; Fama & Jensen, 1983; Harris & Reviv, 2006; Klein, 1998), director expertise (Baysinger & Hoskisson, 1990; Coles et al., 2008; Drobetz et al., 2018; Hermalin & Weisbach, 1991), and level of busyness (Fich & Shivdasani, 2012; Hauser, 2018).

Further, the corporate environment in the US follows a shareholder model, with directors acting in the interest of shareholders to maximise shareholder value. However, the extent of misalignment is known as agency costs. The agency theory describes agency costs as the economic miscalibration between the incentives of shareholders, directors and executive management (Eisenhardt, 1989; Fama, 1980). Independent directors are positively associated with performance and lower agency costs through balancing inside directors, which are biased in their perception of firm performance and interpersonal relations with employees (Agrawal & Knoeber, 1996; Fama & Jensen, 1983). On the other hand, overcoming the information asymmetry will determine if independent directors are effective leaders (Dutchin et al., 2010) instead of limiting innovation (Haunschild & Backman, 1998). As inside directors contribute to the firm with crucial information on finances and investments (Fama & Jensen, 1983; Klein, 1998), the level of board independence has become a trade-off for shareholders. Additionally, if firms hold directors who are considered busy, defined by having three or more board seats (Ferris & Pritchard, 2003; Fich & Shivdasani, 2012; Jiraporn, Kim & Davidson, 2008), the quality of monitoring can decrease affecting profitability and growth potential (Fich & Shivdasani, 2012). Furthermore, they also find that if independent directors are considered busy, the CEO is less likely to be removed due to poor performance. Reducing a directors' number of board seats improves profitability and growth potential (Hauser, 2018). Furthermore, excess monitoring of boards is associated with lower firm valuation (Adams & Ferreira, 2007; Almazan & Suarez, 2003). Smaller groups are more efficient in decision-making and experience less director free-riding (Jensen, 1993; Lipton & Lorsch, 1992). In contrast, more complex firms may benefit from having larger boards through the relevant expertise of inside directors. Higher levels of inside directors are positively associated with Tobin's Q at R&D intense firms (Coles et al., 2005). Complementary to these findings are the results of Drobetz et al. (2018), suggesting higher firm valuations for boards in specific industries are associated with the overall number of experienced directors.

#### 2.1.1 Boards in crisis

During times of economic downturn, governance becomes increasingly relevant as risks increase and the economic environment becomes uncertain. As the Covid-19 pandemic is currently still testing the global economy, research of past crises already provides relevant insights on boards' behaviour in these periods.

A crisis has double materiality on companies, as the economy becomes uncertain for business models and increases the burden on its employees and leaders. Research by Borgschulte Guenzel, Liu and Malemendier (2021) estimated the burden of exposure to distress after the Global Financial Crisis (GFC) for CEOs to be effectively ageing one year in the decade following the distress.

Furthermore, larger boards in the Greece sovereign debt crisis have been associated with weaker debt levels. In contrast, the number of independent directors on the board would have increased the chance of having adequate credentials for higher debt usage (Kyriazopoulos, 2017). Firms should prioritise governance in times of crisis as good governance is negatively related to the cost of capital (AlHares, 2020), lowering the chances of high costs of capital turning into a financial burden and eventually financial distress (Kraus & Litzenberger, 1973). Firms with weaker governance are more exposed in times of economic turmoil and have higher chances of financial distress (Lee & Yeh, 2004).

Additionally, during the GFC, firms' high corporate social responsibility intensity is significantly positively related to stock returns (Lins, Servaes & Tamayo, 2017). The researchers connect the positive stock returns with trust between shareholders and the firm in times when overall trust is low. Good governance, or the lack thereof, can contribute to a crisis too. An analysis of US boards in the period leading to the GFC found structural differences in the composition of boards

engaging in subprime lending recognised as a cause of the GFC (Muller-Kahle & Lewellyn, 2011). More importantly, firms involved in subprime lending were monitored by busier boards and were more likely to be male-dominated. Moreover, the level of gender diversity in boards is also investigated by Chen et al. (2019). They find that higher levels of female representation mitigate the shock on firm performance during the GFC through their cultural attribution on the board.

# **2.2 Female Directors**

Gender diversity is a topic many companies have dealt with in the past decades. According to BoardEx (*Global Gender Balance Report 2021*, 2021), a renowned database on worldwide board data, it appears that Western countries like the US, Europe and Australia are relatively progressive in having diverse boards, with 29%, 34% and 31% being female directors (Figure 1), respectively. This is not the case in large developing economies, such as India, Russia and Brazil, as average female board representation is only 17%, 12% and 12%, respectively. The US made significant progress in increasing female directors on boards from 19% in 2014 to 29% in 2021 (BoardEx, 2021). Although the gender ratio is not balanced yet, the relatively high representation of women in US boards creates a setting to analyse a financial market perception of the presence of female directors. The following subsections will elaborate on research into female board representation and what gender differences might influence the quality of directorships.





Source: BoardEx Global Gender Balance Report 2021

#### 2.2.1 Female Board Representation

In 2000, just 12.5% of directors in US Fortune 500 companies were female (Catalyst, 2000). In 2020, this number increased to 26.5%. Regarding CEOs in 2000, just two (0.4%) Fortune 500 companies were led by women (Catalyst, 2000). Last year noted an unprecedented 41 female CEOs (8.2%) responsible for a Fortune 500 company (Fortune, 2021). Overall, female participation has increased in the past decades due to several measures worldwide. Imposing a quota is one example. Although quotas effectively increase gender diversity on boards, it is not always accompanied by the desired effects. As Wang and Kelan (2012) investigate the impact of the female director quota in Norway, they find that the gender gap for directors has not significantly been affected after full compliance. A growing understanding of board and gender dynamics contributes to adjusting board environments accordingly to effectively improve governance through gender.

First of all, according to the definition of corporate governance (American Bar Association, 2009), monitoring executive management as a director includes a wide range of responsibilities. To be deemed fit as a director at a listed company, organisations seek strong personal characteristics to ensure capable directors are in place to monitor the firm (Agrawal & Knoeber, 2001; Hermalin & Weisbach, 1988). In the 1990s, FDs were selected for increasing diversity at firms instead of capabilities (Farrel & Hersch, 2005). The use of a female to increase diversity is also described as tokenism (Branson, 2006; Bourez, 2005). This trend has shifted as inexperienced FDs are not well-received by shareholders (Ahern & Dittmar, 2012). Women need access to similar education and job opportunities to compete with male candidates. The development of female students and workers has improved in the past decades. In US education, around 60% of 2021 college students are female (Wall Street Journal, 2021), making a possible gender gap non-existent. However, the gender ratio of graduates has a lagged effect on available female directors and female representation. If we look at the dataset of Adams and Ferreira (2009, p. 294), a director was at least 49.2 years when selected (average director age minus the average director tenure, 58.9 years and 9.7 years, respectively. The fact that female representation increases make conducting new research relevant as ratios at this level could not have been researched before.

As previous research predominately investigated the effect of any female representation or just the ratio, the higher levels of representation (Figure 1) might require new research to consider alternative measures of gender diversity to capture relationships in the board settings of today. Such an alternative can be the "Critical Mass" of Kramer, Konrad and Erkut (2006). They aim to establish the minimal number of FDs required to affect board behaviour significantly. A qualitative analysis based on interviews with executives from Fortune 1000 companies. Their research suggests that at least three female directors are required to impose a change in the boardroom. In their findings, three FDs improve decision-making by including more stakeholders' concerns and increasing the ease of discussing complex topics in the board room. Additionally, the team dynamics of the board seem to be improving, with better expectation management between the board and management (Kramer et al., 2006). Aligned

with these implications is the research of Schwartz-Ziv (2017). The author finds that boards with three directors of both genders are at least 79% more active during board meetings and present significant relationships with the presence of female directors.

As experienced FDs remain scarce (McKinsey, 2021), larger firms have larger boards and more seats available for female directors. Moreover, experienced directors are directly linked to several performance metrics of public firms. Ahern and Dittmar (2012) found significant evidence of this as they researched the 2003 gender quota in Norway. The quota of 40% FDs on boards of listed firms was introduced at a time when on average, 9% of Norwegian directors were female. The introduction led to the sharp increase of inexperienced female directors. Their results suggest that investors value experience as sharp stock declines have been linked to the quota.

In addition, the relationship between firm performance and gender diversity on the board has different effects on companies with weaker shareholder rights. If shareholder protection is low, Adams and Ferreira (2009) find a positive relationship between firm performance and gender diversity. Furthermore, early gender board research suggests the size of companies is positively related to female representation (Harrigan, 1981; Agrawal & Knoeber, 2001; Carter, Simkins & Simpsons, 2003). Besides, Farrel and Hersch (2005) find that female directors are more likely to serve at firms that perform better

The indirect effect of female representation on the board is also researched. Chen et al. (2019) investigate the mitigating impact of FDs on CEO overconfidence. They find that female directors offer extra insights and perspectives to the CEO in strategic decision-making. Moreover, their results suggest that female representation lowers CEO overconfidence in industries where CEO overconfidence is traditionally high. Mitigation of overconfidence is linked to lower risk-taking in investment strategies, higher levels of financial performance and improved decision-making in M&A.

# 2.2.2 Gender differences

In June 2020, a few months into the Covid-19 pandemic, Johnson and Williams (2020) state in the Journal of Politics & Gender that the coverage of female leadership has positively improved. They conclude that female political leaders have strategically used their feminine protectionism (related to the traditional role of a household caretaker) in the political environment. Celis et al. (2013) describe a gender-based distinction between the private sphere at home (feminine) and the public sphere in politics (masculine). In this context, Johnson and Williams (2020) connect failed protection of citizens and masculine political leadership. Moreover, Garikipati and Kambhampati (2021) analyse the gender of Covid-19 outcomes due to national policies worldwide. They find significant results on systemically better Covid-19 outcomes for female-led countries. These dynamics offer the first perspective on female

leadership (governance) and appropriate behaviour (firm performance and value) during the Covid-19 pandemic.

As listed companies are, per definition, more exposed to the world, leadership at public firms comes with different dynamics. Ryan et al. (2016) find that perceived female leadership is valued more in times of crisis. Additionally, in more violent situations, such as war and dictatorships, research found that female leaders benefit from having empathy and conciliation, predominantly feminine skills (Franceschet et al., 2017; Thomas & Adams., 2010). Overall, male leadership is still preferred in crisis conditions (Dulan & Lynch, 2016). Nevertheless, as the Covid-19 crisis is a pandemic, corporate leadership might value female protectionism.

Previous research into female directors and firm performance has presented mixed results regarding corporate leadership and firm performance. Ahern and Dittmar (2012) have found a negative relationship between increased female representation and performance. Their research is conducted in progressive Sweden, being the first to impose a gender quota on boards, where 9% of directors were female at the time. Further, Farrel and Hersch (2005) cannot significantly link gender diversity in boards to financial performance. They conclude that firms initially selected female directors as a response to calls for diversity instead of capability-based recruitment. On the other hand, Campbell and Mingquez-Vera (2008) and Liu, Wei and Xie (2014) can associate gender diversity in boards with improved firm performance, even though these findings concern Spanish and Chinese firms. One of the first papers to present empirical evidence on board diversity, measured by the ratio of female directors and ethnic minorities, and firm value, measured by Tobin's Q, at Fortune 1000 companies. Their implications highlight the relevance of board diversity and shareholder value.

Furthermore, female representation can have implications within boards as well. Research by Adams and Ferreira (2009) finds that FDs are less likely to have attendance problems than male directors. An attendance problem is attending less than 75% of board meetings per director per year. Additionally, this research suggests that FDs tend to take more committee roles with monitoring responsibilities. This implies that the dynamics of corporate governance are affected by female board representation. A recent paper by Chen et al. (2019) finds a positive effect of female board representation on firm performance in the GFC connected with board culture. Their findings suggest that companies experience less harmful effects on performance during the crisis due to lower risk-taking in the prior period. The lower levels of risk are found connected to the presence of FDs and their mitigating effect on the overconfidence of CEOs. This would make the firm financially less fragile in times of crisis.

Concluding, current research strongly implies improved governance through gender-diverse boards and suggests female directors can have a role in governance during times of crisis. As a result, financial markets should efficiently incorporate the representation of FDs in share prices.

# 2.3 Financial Markets & Investors

Financial markets reflect companies' value and their relation to investors. The market of corporate assets is driven by the investors' interpretation of value relative to corporate performance and growth potential. For this research, an essential theory on financial markets is commonly described as the Efficient Market Hypothesis (EMH). This theory is simultaneously explored by Fama (1963, 1965) and Samuelson (1965) and includes three states of efficiency in financial markets. In totally efficient markets, investors cannot earn abnormal returns on average. Besides, the market is perceived as less efficient if new information is not immediately incorporated into prices. The divergence of rational expectations can expose investor biases or model errors. The latter is described as the joint hypothesis problem in financial academic literature (Cuthbertson, 1996; Campbell et al., 1997; Lo & MacKinley, 1999). Moreover, the EMH is built on the Rational Choice Theory (RCT), a product of utilitarianism by philosopher John Stuart Mill (1806-1873), and neoclassical economic theories. The fundamental concept of the EMH and RCT is that investors are rational and correct prices in the market based on available information. The rationality of investors is an essential assumption in this paper to test relations between firm value and diverse corporate governance. However, despite the market reaction having logical arguments, it does not have to exclude the absence of investor biases.

#### 2.3.1 Financial Markets in turmoil

In times of economic crisis, the economy becomes more challenging for companies. Good corporate governance in these times is critical to ensure the continuation of operations. Adjusting strategy is often necessary as the dynamic economic environment change in crises. Research by Chung and Beamish (2005) finds that multinational organisations use their global presence to increase the chances of survival. By being flexible in operations between international subsidiaries, the economic downturns in home markets are mitigated. Multinational operations require scale, and company size is positively related to going public (Pagano, Pennetta & Zingales, 2002). Performing less bad than competitors can improve competitiveness when the crisis ends and enhance the chances of survival. Furthermore, Lins et al. (2017) investigate the relationship between social capital and the performance of companies in the GFC. They find that firms with higher levels of social capital have a significant positive relationship with their stock performance. Chen et al. (2019) research firm performance in relation to female directors. Their results suggest that the performance of firms with female directors is

less affected by the GFC compared to firms without female directors. This relationship is found through the mitigated risk-taking of the overconfident CEOs connected to female board representation.

The research currently suggests a positive relationship between improved governance by female directors and firm value of rational expectation. As improved governance leads to better performance and higher firm value (Adams & Ferreira, 2009), and if female directors improve governance and firm performance, efficient markets should incorporate the presence of female directors in the stock price if this is the case. This paper investigates the market reaction to female representation during the Covid-19 pandemic. Since Chen et al. (2019) and Lins et al. (2017) already found a positive relationship between socially diverse boards on firm performance during crisis, female leadership in the Covid-19 pandemic could improve the firm value well.

However, prior research exposes investor differences related to gender within behavioural finance on investor behaviour. For example, the paper of Schmid and Urban (2021) looks into investor behaviour surrounding the death of female directors worldwide. They find an excess stock price decrease of approximately 2% compared to the passing of male directors. This significant depreciation of stocks prices is linked to the challenge of successfully replacing female directors with other suitable females. However, Schmid and Urban cannot completely accredit the share price drop to director characteristics related to experience and education and expect it could be attributed to gender differences.

#### 2.3.2 Economic beliefs about gender

As rationality has been a foundation for classic economic theory, the divergent results, in reality, have economists reassess their views. A recent development in financial-economic academic research is increased behavioural analysis of market participants. Where rationality remains the first perspective to derive expectations from, behavioural finance is complementary to rationality as it considers human nature, personal preferences and beliefs. The following subsection will discuss what investor behaviour can be linked to stock returns in times of crisis to understand market sentiment.

First, gender perception is a product of society and culture, eventually reflected in corporate settings. Brown, Alasdair, Yang and Fuyu (2015) analyse society's perception of gender performance via market-making in horse-race betting, testing for mistake-based discrimination. Overall, female jockeys tend to be slightly underestimated based on bets and the realised wins. However, their results are not easily extrapolated to corporate settings as horse racing is a physical activity and white-collar jobs require mental capabilities. Nevertheless, the relative losses in betting make discrimination very costly. Therefore, Brown et al. (2015) expect any gender discrimination in other professions to be more persistent as these costs appear to be less imminent.

Further, the beliefs about males and females are connected to stereotypes (Bordalo, Coffman, Gennaioli & Shleifer, 2019). They address gender differences in overconfidence as a cause for gender stereotypes. Both genders underestimate females in areas where males are dominant. In contrast, female capabilities are overestimated by both genders in female-dominated areas. Over time, Bordalo et al. (2019) expect less extreme stereotypes as the actual differences in gender capabilities are smaller than the perception. Bordalo et al. (2019) also state that stereotypes have contributed to the perception of economics and finance being male-dominated fields. In this perspective, academic research on the effects of gender diversity in corporate settings contributes to 'normalising' such stereotypes and fully understanding the economic implications of gender.

#### **2.4 Hypotheses**

The discussed literature suggests benefits to firms and governance through the presence of female directors. Research is not able to provide a uniform answer on these benefits. The Covid-19 pandemic offers a new period to investigate the relationships between female directors and firm value. At the same time, current levels of female representation are unique and yet to be further investigated. This offers a new environment for this paper to research market behaviour on diverse boards. Three hypotheses are tested to answer the main research question, "Do female directors positively impact firm value during the Covid-19 crisis?".

As earlier discussed, governance in times of economic turmoil is essential to stay financially stable (Lee & Yeh, 2004). Female directors appear to be improving corporate governance through several mechanisms, such as committee memberships and improving director attendance (Adam & Ferreira, 2007). In times of crisis, Chen et al. (2019) already present results on the mitigating effect of female directors on the risk-taking of CEOs and therefore lowering risks during the Global Financial Crisis. These findings form the basis for the positive expectations about the level of FDs and firm value. In contrast with prior literature on board diversity, this paper does not measure female representation through the presence of at least one FD. Current levels of diversity make the group without any FD statistically too small. Female representation is measured with two variables. First, FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors on the board. Second, Min3FDs is a dummy variable which denotes 1 if the board has at least three female directors, described as 'Critical Mass' by Kramer et al. (2006). As female directors appear to improve governance and are lowering the risk profile of firms in crisis, diverse boards in covid-19 should perform better than non-diverse boards. Efficient markets would valuate these aspects in the stock price and drive a positive relationship between FDs and firm value. The first hypothesis includes the ratio of FDs, while the second uses the threshold as the main explanatory variable. They state as follows:

#### Hypothesis 1:

H0: The ratio of female directors during Covid-19 is not associated with firm value

H1: The ratio of female directors during Covid-19 is positively related to firm value

### Hypothesis 2:

H0: Having a minimum of three female directors during Covid-19 is not associated with firm value H1: Having a minimum of three female directors during Covid-19 is positively related to firm value

In addition to female board representation, Garikipati and Kambhampati (2021) show that female leadership in the pandemic systematically performs male leadership regarding Covid-19 policies. This suggests that a female leader can steer in the uncertainty of the pandemic and might also apply to the corporate setting. The third hypothesis expects a positive relationship between firms with a female CEO and the firm value around events in the pandemic and is as follows:

## Hypothesis 3:

H0: Female CEOs during Covid-19 are not associated with firm value

#### H1: Firms with female CEOs during Covid-19 are positively related to firm value

These hypotheses align with the expectations of improved governance due to female directorship and leadership. Rejecting the null hypotheses implies that investors punish firms for female representation on boards. Insignificant results suggest that shareholders do not value the level of gender diversity on boards in the short term during Covid-19.

# **2.5 Selected Events**

The shock resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic can be classified as exogenous, as it originates from outside the economy. This makes the Covid-19 crisis different from the Global Financial Crisis, sparked by the financial collapse in the banking industry. While the effects on industries can be very different, the independent cause of Covid-19 creates an economic environment where the effects are uncertain. Especially at the pandemic's beginning, implications of lock-downs and health measures were just estimations instead of expectations based on historical events. This paper takes six events in the US between 30 January 2020 and 7 November 2020. The events are selected based on the macroeconomic relevance and relevance for public US companies. The presence of the event's implications has to be certain to assess market behaviour, although not still uncertain on the exact effects.

The first event is on 30 January 2020 and notes the day that the World Health Organisation (WHO) classifies the developments of Covid-19 as a Public Health Emergency of International Concern

(PHEIC). In this paper, it is named as Health Emergency Date (HED). The health warning is the 6<sup>th</sup> time the WHO has declared such concern since the introduction of the regulation in 2005. The event is selected as investors can be expected to consider their first economic concerns on the US stock market.

The second event is Peak Market Date on 19 February 2020 or PMD. This date is based on Yahoo Finance's historical data of the S&P500. The S&P 500 closed on an all-time high (3.386) on this date, whereas it also marks the day before a substantial decline due to Covid-19 concern among investors. This sell-off ended on 23th of March 2020, closing the S&P500 index at 2.237, a 33% decline compared to PMD. The event was selected to capture investors' initial reaction when financial markets expressed severe concerns about Covid-19.

The third event is the Pandemic Start Date on 11 March 2020 or PSD. This event marks the date WHO officially declares the Covid-19 developments a pandemic. This significant increase of concern regarding the HED officially marks the pandemic's start and is an exogenous shock to investors and public US firms.

The fourth event is the Peak Unemployment Date on 11 May 2020, or PUD. The date includes the first trading day (Monday) after the publication of the US Bureau of Labor Statistics on May 8<sup>th</sup> 2020 (Friday). The unemployment rate in April 2020 reached a record high of 14.7% as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and measures to control it, as described by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020, May 13). The unprecedented level of unemployment ripples through the US economy and is the reason for selecting the event. Female leadership could impact the reaction to labour shortages.

The fifth event is the Recession Start Date on 8 June 2020 or PSD. Another important date at the pandemic's start is when the National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) declares the US economy in its first recession since June 2009 (NBER; June 8, 2020).

The sixth event is the Joe Biden Date on 7 November 2020, or JBD. This is the date Joe Biden is officially declared president of the United States. Generally, presidential elections are significant political moments which much economic relevance. Additionally, this date is chosen because of the contrasting perspective on Corona by Joe Biden's predecessor Donald Trump and Biden's proactive political standpoint on gender equality (Biden for President, 2020).

Concluding, the six events described above are selected based on their macroeconomic relevance and their occurrence during the start of the Covid-19 pandemic. Later events are not included as investors possibly perceive and respond differently to Covid-19 events over time. The first events in the eight months are selected to capture a pure market reaction. All events force firms to respond to and anticipate the Covid-19 developments. The impact of female directors can be captured by analysing the abnormal returns of investors around these dates. As the events impact the economy, gender differences in boards might be valued differently in markets.

# **3.** Data and Methodology

In the next part, the data collection and variables used in the quantitative methods are discussed. Part 3.1 describes what criteria data for firms' boards and directors are selected. Part 3.2 elaborates why certain variables are considered when analysing the relations between corporate governance and firm performance. Part 3.3 contains the descriptive statistics of the sample set. Lastly, 3.4 demonstrates the regression models and regression specifications.

# 3.1 Data Collection

To establish possible relations between the gender diversity of boards and the performance of firms, firm and stock data is collected from ISS Directors, Compustat, CRSP, and Fama-French Portfolios and Factors database. The whole sample used for this study exists of US directors and firm data between 2016 and 2020. The main focus is firm performance during the pandemic in 2020. However, the firm characteristics in 2016-2019 are used for comparison.

Director details are collected from the Institutional Shareholder Services – Directors database (ISS – Directors, formerly RiskMetrics) for governance data and include yearly data on directors at S&P 1500 companies in the US. As director data is only available for the S&P 1500 companies, merging director and firm data will exclude firms outside the S&P 1500. Director variables include gender, age, tenure, company, committee memberships and board seats at other companies. The ISS Directors database has been widely used to research gender relations within governance (e.g. Adams & Ferreira, 2009; Chen et al., 2019). The initial sample includes 85,422 unique directorships between 2015 and 2020. Aggregated director observations are used to construct yearly board data per firm.

Furthermore, firm data is retrieved from the Compustat database and includes quarterly data on US publicly traded firms between January 2015 and December 2020. As the pandemic starts in the first quarter of 2020, the choice of quarterly data is essential. At the moment of this research (Q1 2022), the Covid-19 pandemic is ongoing and reported data on firms is still limited. To assess the relationship between firm variables and daily stock returns in a crisis period, quarterly data can provide a more accurate development of a firm's financial variables for a smaller window than yearly data [add research?]. Director data is only available yearly and is therefore matched with the corresponding quarters each year.

Companies in the S&P 1500 reporting in Canadian Dollars are excluded. Financial firms are excluded as they use significantly different performance metrics and are have systematically different boards due to intense financial regulation (Baysinger & Zardkoohi, 1986; Subrahmanyam, Rangan & Rosenstein, 1997). Firm observations are excluded if they miss financial data for the variables sales, assets, return on assets (ROA), return on equity (ROE), Tobin's Q and market capitalisation.

Additionally, stock data for US companies in 2020 is collected from the CRSP database. This data is first merged with data from the Fama-French Portfolio and Factors database, sourced from the Kenneth R. French - Data Library at Dartmouth (2022). The data includes the factor loadings used for calculating abnormal returns. Besides a company's covariance with the market, the factors also include the exposure of firms with market perceptions on size differences, Small Minus Big, and growth captured in high vs low book-to-value ratios (High Minus Low). This method is based on the research of Fama and French on categorial variation in stock and bond return (1983). The abnormal return of a company's stock differs from the historically expected return based on the assigned factor loadings.

The events used in this study are all in 2020. In this year, the Covid-19 virus started to make a global impact and reached the US in January 2020. Six days have been selected based on their relevance to the US economy. Their general relation to the US economy offers an exogenous effect to firms, making the event statistically suitable to capture market perceptions. The event study is focused on six days in 2020. The first event date is the declaration of a Health Emergency by the WHO on January 30 2020 (HED), followed by the day which notes, at the time, the peak of the S&P 500, 19 February 2020 (Peak Market Date or PMD). The third event is the start of the pandemic, marked by the official pandemic declaration of the WHO on 11 March 2020. The fourth and fifth events are the unemployment publication date by the Bureau of Labour Statistics in the US, 11 May 2020, and the start of the first US recession in 11 years, 8 June 2020, denoted as PeakUnemploymentDate (PUD) and RecessionStartDate (RSD), respectively. Lastly, the day where Joe Biden is officially declared President of the United States of America is used as JoeBidenDate (JBD) on 7 November 2020.

# 3.2 Variable definitions

This research uses three main explanatory variables. First, FemaleRatio, which is the % of female directors relative to board size. Second, Min3FDs is a dummy variable which is 1 for boards that have at least three female directors (FDs) on the board per year, and 0 otherwise, based on governance research by Kramer et al. (2006). Lastly, FemaleCEO is a dummy variable which is 1 for boards that have a female CEO, and 0 otherwise.

Moreover, gender is captured in the dummy variable FemaleDummy, which equals 1 if the director is female, and 0 otherwise. For FemaleCEODummy, the dummy variable equals 1 if the director is female and the company's CEO. Tenure is calculated as the number of years since the director has started on the board. The variable CommitteeMember denotes 1 if a director is a member of an audit, nomination, compensation or corporate governance committee, and 0 otherwise. A director is classified as busy if they are attending three boards or more simultaneously, measured by the dummy variable BusyDirector. According to the ISS- Directors database, directors are perceived as independent if they have no family or (historical) business relationship with the firm. A dummy variable equals 1 for

directors classified as independent, and 0 otherwise. The ISS – Directors database provides data on directors who have attended less than 75% of the board meetings in a year.

Next, the director level observations are used to construct board variables per firm and year. For Age, Tenure, FemaleDummy, CommitteeMember, IndepDir, **BusyDirector** and AttendanceProblem, the average of the variable per board per year is calculated to obtain firm-level variables. FemaleCEO is now a dummy variable equal to 1 if the board holds a female CEO, and 0 otherwise. OnlyOneFemale is a dummy variable equal to 1 if only one female director sits on the board, and 0 otherwise. This variable is commonly used in gender-governance research, such as Adams & Ferreira (2009) and [RESEARCH]. Other boards seats (OBS) per director is calculated as the average of other board seats per director. The variables OBSbyMaleDirectors and OBSbyFemaleDirectors are constructed with the same approach. However, they are split by gender.

Lastly, several firm characteristics are constructed and used as control variables. LnSales is calculated as the natural logarithm of a company's total sales in a specific quarter. Return on assets (ROA) equals quarterly net income divided by the total assets at the end of the quarter. Return on equity (ROE) is calculated as net income divided by shareholder's equity per quarter. Leverage is long-term debt divided by total assets. Tobin's Q is the market value of the company at the end of the quarter divided by total assets reported in the same quarter. The market value equals the sum of total assets and the market capitalisation minus the book value of shareholders' equity.

## **3.3 Descriptive Statistics**

Table 1 shows the summary statistics for the sample divided into two periods: 2016-2019 and 2020. Over the past years, female representation at executive levels has been growing (Fortune, 2021). My sample shows in Panel A that 98.4% of boards include at least one woman in 2020. There is a notable difference with the 89.5% recorded in US boards' 2016-2019 statistics (Panel B). Earlier research by Adams and Ferreira (2009) presented statistics on a sample of US boards and only found 61% of boards having any female director from 1996-2003. This trend shows that public firms and boards are engaged in more diverse environments than before. A critical development for gender diversity in boards and research into governance is the increase of firms having more than one female director. Adams & Ferreira conducted research with a sample from 1996 – 2003 and noted a huge percentage difference between companies with just one female director and companies with more than one female director. A phenomenon marked as tokenism (Branson, 2006; Bourez, 2005). In this context, tokenism is using a single female director due to increasing diversity levels and less to the extent of hiring capable directors. Furthermore, as gender diversity has received more attention since the data of Adams & Ferreira (2009), this trend is reflected in the statistics of my sample. In 2020 (2016-2019), 98.4% (89.5%) of public US companies have female directors, whereas only 18.2% (32.1%) of those

companies have just one FD. In comparison with Adams and Ferreira (2009), 61% of companies have female directors, but in contrast, 66% of those companies have just one. The inclusion of female directors is also well reflected in the average percentage of FDs (FemaleRatio), which is 25.6% (19.5%) in 2020 (2015-2019) versus 8.5% in 1996-2003 (Adams & Ferreira, 2008).

The average board size for companies in this sample is 9.4 (9.3) directors in 2020 (2016-2019). In both windows, these directors are approximately 62 years old and have been at the board over eight years, on average. In 2020 (2016-2019), 81.2% (81.7%) of the board consists of independent directors, with 61.3% (75.7%) of all directors in a board being a committee member too. Based on this sample includes less committee memberships per director in 2020 than the three years before, while the size has not changed substantially. On average, female directors have more other boards seats in 2020 (0.93 seats per FD) compared to male directors (0.70 seats per director). Serving in multiple boards could be a distraction in times of crises. The average AttendanceProblem per board is low, with 0.4% being the board percentage of directors marked as attending less than 75% of board meetings the previous year.

The performance of the companies the directors govern has decreased in 2020 compared to the period before. Return on assets has decreased from 5% in 2016-2019 to 2.9%. Return on equity lowered from 11.1% to 6.1% in 2020. Leverage increased from 26.2% to 29.9% in the year of the pandemic. Both trends are understandable as Covid-19 had a strong negative impact on the economy and levels of uncertainty, lowering profitability and increase debt levels to ensure liquidity and business continuity on the short term. The average abnormal returns (AAR) around the events in a [-20d,+20d] window are presented in Figure 2 (Appendix) for firms grouped by Min3FDs and FemaleCEO. Overall, the AAR of the groups do not have strong diverging patterns. This could make it more difficult to establish strong results on the groups discrepancies.

Lastly, the pair-wise correlations are presented in Table 8 (Appendix). The correlations are considered to detect any relationships between the included variables and prevent biased effects in the regressions. The table presents strong correlation for pairs which ought to be correlated. Besides being strongly correlated with each other (0.524), the variables FemaleDirectors and FemaleInBoard are strongly correlation with FemaleRatio too. The number of FDs in the board is also strongly correlated with BoardSize. Furthermore, the size of the board moves together with size of the company (0.580), captured in the variable LnSales. Based on this table, the variables for female representation do not appear to be correlation with return (ROA) and market valuation (TobinsQ). Only moderate correlation is found for the number of FDs (FemaleDirectors) and LnSales.

#### Table 1: Summary Statistics

All variable data are from 2016-2019 (Panel B) and 2020 (Panel A), and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. Statistics on the whole period is provided in the Appendix, Table 7. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. All variable definitions and sources are provided in Appendix, Table A. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level.

Panel A: 2020	Ν	Mean	SD	Min	Max
LnSalesYearly	1118	7.757	1.447	4.392	10.731
ROA Year	1118	.029	0.075	123	.16
ROE Year	1118	.061	0.267	561	.638
Leverage	1112	.299	0.179	0	.728
TobinsO	1118	2.368	1.601	.826	6.936
FemaleRatio	1118	.256	0.099	0	.455
Min3FDs	1118	.436	0.496	0	1
FemaleCEO	1118	.112	0.315	0	1
FemaleDirectors	1118	2.443	1.115	0	5
OnlyOneFemale	1118	.179	0.383	0	1
FemaleInBoard	1118	984	0.126	Ő	1
T emalembourd	1110	.901	0.120	0	1
BoardSize	1118	9.352	1.831	6	13
Age	1118	62 323	3 398	55	69 714
Tenure	1118	8 321	3 514	2.25	17 667
BoardIndependenceRatio	1118	817	0.095	556	917
AttendanceProblem	1118	.017	0.019	.550	.917
CommitteeMemberRatio	1118	613	0.017	3	909
OtherBoardsPerDirector	1110	768	0.170	.5	1 75
ORShyMalaDiractor	1110	.708	0.413	0	1.75
OBSbyMaleDirector	1110	.703	0.428	0	1.75
ObsoyremateDirector	1110	.95	0.742	0	5
Total Companyation	1053	225 82	74 427	86.050	131 881
Cosh Compensation	1055	233.82	22 779	22.5	434.004
Non Cosh Componention	1055	07.232	52.770	22.3	246 979
Non-Cash Comp. Datio	1055	147.005	00.292	22.072	075
Non-Cash Comp. Rano	1031	.393	0.157	.19	.873
Pallel B: 2010 - 2019	1226	Niean 7.7.42	<u>5D</u>	1 202	10 721
LnSales Yearly	4326	1.742	1.469	4.392	10.731
RUA Year	4326	.05	0.064	123	.16
ROE Year	4326	.111	0.223	561	.638
Leverage	4303	.265	0.180	0	.728
TobinsQ	4326	2.18	1.339	.826	6.936
	122.6	105	0.100	0	1.5.5
FemaleRatio	4326	.195	0.109	0	.455
Min3FDs	4326	.259	0.438	0	1
FemaleCEO	4326	.096	0.295	0	l
FemaleDirectors	4326	1.8/5	1.156	0	5
OnlyOneFemale	4326	.287	0.452	0	1
FemaleInBoard	4326	.895	0.306	0	1
<b>D</b> 101				_	
BoardSize	4326	9.273	1.856	6	13
Age	4326	62.33	3.412	55	69.714
Tenure	4326	8.664	3.582	2.25	17.667
BoardIndependenceRatio	4326	.812	0.097	.556	.917
AttendanceProblem	4326	.004	0.019	0	.1
CommitteeMemberRatio	4326	.757	0.130	.3	.909
OtherBoardsPerDirector	4326	.795	0.436	0	1.75
OBSbyMaleDirector	4326	.763	0.450	0	1.75
OBSbyFemaleDirector	4326	.833	0.803	0	3

Total Compensation	4256	233.407	75.869	86.059	434.884
Cash Compensation	4256	88.779	30.679	22.5	163.833
Non-Cash Compensation	4256	143.934	67.264	22.672	346.878
Non-Cash Comp. Ratio	4252	0.582	0.133	.19	.875

# 3.4 Methodology

The main goal of this paper is to capture the effect of investors on gender diverse governed companies in the US during the worldwide Covid-19 crisis. The approach includes several models. The paper will start with a univariate analysis to detect any differences between firms that hold a diverse board and firms which do not. Additionally, an event study with a regression analysis will be conducted to isolate possible relationships between board diversity and firm value. Lastly, several cross-sectional regression analyses will be conducted to define any relationships further.

Firstly, the univariate analysis will be done using a two-sample Welch t-test. A two-sample ttest effectively tests if the difference of means between two groups is significantly different from zero. Using the Welch type of t-test is appropriate as the sample sizes between the group of diverse firms are unequal (Welch, 1947). Where a Student's t-test is often used, I follow Declare, Lakens and Leys (2017) and Welch (1947) in their statistical papers on the use of t-tests in research. To use the Student t-test, underlying assumptions of normality and variance make the test effective (Student, 1908). However, these assumptions do not hold for my sample, where the Welsch t-test is a strong alternative as it remains robust compared to the Student t-test. The analysis will include the firm observations in 2020 and compare diverse firms on financial performance during the Covid-19 pandemic. Differences in means will be tested for the firm financial variables; LnSales, ROA, ROE, Leverage Tobin's Q, and firm governance variables; BoardSize, Age, Tenure, OtherBoardsPerDirector, BoardIndependenceRatio and TotalCompensation. The univariate analysis contributes to answering the research questions by possibly highlighting statistically significant differences in firms with a higher degree of gender diversity on their board. However, besides offering a clear comparison of groups, the results of this test will not be sufficient on their own to accept new economic relations. The following model is used for t-tests;

(1)

$$t = \frac{\overline{X_1} - \overline{X_2}}{\sqrt{s_{\overline{X_1}}^2 + s_{\overline{X_2}}^2}}$$

with 
$$s_{\overline{X_1}} = \frac{s_i}{\sqrt{N_i}}$$

- *t* is the t-statistics
- $\overline{X}_i$  is the mean of sample i
- $s_{\overline{X_1}}$  is the standard error of sample i
- $N_i$  is the total number of observations of sample i

Following is an event study to analyse the market reaction due to new information available. An event study is a suitable method based on research to assess the isolated relation of market efficiency to companies' valuations (Arya & Zhang, 2009; Boehmer, 1991). The two main event windows are set on [-1d,+1] and [-3d,+3d] to investigate direct market implications during the selected events. For both these windows, cumulative abnormal returns are calculated per company. In assessing abnormal stock performance, I follow the methods of Fama and French (1993), using the Fama-French Three-Factor model (FF3F). This model is an extension of the well-known CAPM model. It uses additional coefficients for the exposure of the stock to market behaviour and the stock's relative characteristics in company size (SmallMinusLarge factor) and book-to-market ratios (HighMinusLow factor). To capture company-specific drivers of stock value, stock performance has to be segregated from market performance. The daily return will be benchmarked against the expected return to compare the stock's performance. These expected returns are empirically calculated per day and based on 281 trading days before the event date. The expected return is calculated using model (2.1):

(2.1)

$$E(R)_{i,t} = \alpha + rf_t + \beta_{m,i} \left( R_{m,t} - rf_t \right) + \beta_{s,i} SMB_t + \beta_{h,i} HML_t + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

- $E(R)_{i,t}$  is the expected return of stock i on trading day t
- $rf_t$  is the risk-free rate at trading day t
- $\beta_{m_i}$  is market beta of stock i
- $(R_{mt})$ 
  - $Rf_t$  is the market premium at trading day t, calculated as market return minus the risk-free rate
- $\beta_{s,i}$  is the exposure of stock i in relation to small-to-large company factor loading (SMB)
- *SMB*<sub>t</sub> is the historical factor loading for small-to-large companies on trading day t
- $\beta_{hi}$  is the exposure of stock i in relation to high-to-low book-to-market ratio factor loading (HML)
- *HML<sub>t</sub>* is the historical factor loading for high-to-low companies on trading day t
- $\varepsilon_{i,t}$  is the error term for stock i at trading day t

Abnormal return is the difference between actual and expected stock performance per day. In the event study, the sum of abnormal returns is used to capture the abnormal performance of companies within an event window. Abnormal returns are calculated using model (2.2):

(2.2)

Abnormal Return<sub>i,t</sub> = 
$$R_{i,t} - E(R)_{i,t}$$

- Abnormal Return<sub>i,t</sub> is the abnormal return of stock i on trading day t
- $R_{i,t}$  is the actual return of stock i on trading day t
- $E(R)_{i,t}$  is the expected return of stock i on trading day t

The Cumulative Abnormal Return is the sum of abnormal returns on all days within the event window and calculated with the model (2.3):

(2.3)

$$CAR_i = \sum_{t=1}^{T} Abnormal Return_{i,t}$$

- $CAR_i$  is the cumulative abnormal return of stock i in a specified event window
- Abnormal Return<sub>i,t</sub> is the abnormal return of stock i on trading day t
- *T* is the total number of days in the specified event window

As CARs are estimated per company for each event window, the variable can now be used to find relationships in deviating stock performance and company characteristics. To analyse the effect of gender-diverse boards on abnormal stock performance, I regress three different gender variables on the CAR. Several control variables are added to increase model robustness and can generally be categorised as financial performance and governance variables. Industry-specific effects are captured in dummy variables. The model uses industry clustered variances for robustness. The full model used in this research is specified in the following regression (3):

(3)

$$CAR_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} GenderVariable_{i} + \beta_{2} Leverage_{i} + \beta_{3} ROA_{i} + \beta_{4} LnSales_{i} + \beta_{5} TobinsQ_{i}$$
$$+ \beta_{6} AgeBoard_{i} + \beta_{7} Tenure_{i} + \beta_{8} OtherBoards_{i} + \beta_{9} BoardIndependence_{i}$$
$$+ i.SIC Industry + vce$$

- $CAR_i$  is the cumulative abnormal return of stock *i* in the specific event window
- GenderVariable is one of three selected gender variables: FemaleRatio, Min3FDs and FemaleCEO
- *i.SIC Industry* are the dummy variables per industry
- vce is the robust error clustered by industry

# 4. Results

This part contains the results from the different models denoted in Section 3.4. The main explanatory variables in the models are FemaleRatio, Min3FDs and FemaleCEO. The section will start with a univariate analysis to find discrepancies between diverse and less diverse firms. Following, to examine the relationship between female directors and the stock performance during the pandemic, CARs of Covid-19 related event windows are investigated. Lastly, several extensions of this analysis will include interaction terms to research cross-sectional relationships between female representation and firm related characteristics.

# 4.1 Univariate analysis

The univariate results are presented in Table 2. This table includes two-sample Welch t-tests on the main variables used in the event study. The test determines if the difference between groups is significantly different from zero. Table 2 presents three panels for the main explanatory variables, Min3FDs and FemaleCEO. FemaleRatio is not used as no group distinction can be made with a ratio, but replaced by a dummy variable MedianFemaleRatio, denoting 1 of the board has an above median FemaleRatio.

Regarding the two-sample t-test of difference in means by Min3FDs in Panel A, firms with at least three Female Directors (FDs) show substantial differences between all variables except ROA\_Year and TobinsQ. Firms meeting the Critical Mass had more total sales in 2020 and, on average, used more debt to finance operations (Leverage). In turn, the relative higher level of debt lowers the relative level of shareholders' equity, which relates to the statistical difference in ROE\_Year. These firms also have larger boards, which increases the possibility of meeting the Critical Mass, and their directors are slightly younger and have been sitting 1.2 years less on their boards than firms with two FDs or less. On average, directors are busier at firms with at least three FDs, although the total compensation is significantly higher. These findings align with the literature as larger companies attract more female directors than smaller companies while offering higher salaries. The fact that these firms are busier can be explained by the research by Adams and Ferreira (2009), as they show that the scarcity of female directors leads to a higher average of other board seats per FD.

Additionally, Panel B presents the results for groups segregated by the FemaleCEO dummy. In contrast with Min3FDs, the number of observations is strongly unbalanced, as CEO positions for females are more limited compared to director positions. Compared to the Min3FDs results, fewer variables are significantly different between the groups. However, the significant differences hold the same signs as differences in Panel A. Important to note are the more minor differences between the groups compared with Min3FDs, except for age. Firms with female CEOs have a higher average for LnSalesYearly, BoardSize, OtherBoardsPerDirector, BoardIndependence in 2020 than firms with male

CEOs. An interesting difference with the Min3FDs results is that directors are not getting paid more if a female CEO is in charge, but having at least three FDs on the board suggests a higher average total compensation. However, in governance research, it is difficult to entirely allocate the difference in total to the Critical Mass of three FDs as many factors determine total compensation.

Following, Panel C present the results on an adjusted variable, measured as the median of the FemaleRatio. Splitting firms by median enables the data to be compared by group, with MedianFemaleRatio denoting 1 if the board observation of FemaleRatio is above the median of the whole sample and 0 otherwise. The median for FemaleRatio for 2016-2020 is 0.22, or 22% is the average percentage of female directors in all board observations. Further, just two variables tested are not significantly different, being the return variables ROA and ROE. This suggests that the firms in each group do not outperform each other. However, firms with above-median FemaleRatio appear to be smaller (-1.101 LnSales, 1%), have higher leverage (+2.6% Leverage, 5%), and are perceived with higher potential (+0.158 TobinsQ, 1%). Additionally, the directors on the boards of firms with above-median FemaleRatio are sitting on larger boards (+0.614 BoardSize, 1%), are younger (-1.008 Age, 1%), sit fewer years at the board (-1.381 Tenure, 1%) and are busier with other boards than firms with below-median FemaleRatio (+0.168 OtherBoardsPerDirector, 1%). The split by female directors is significant between groups, and FDs are sitting on boards governing firms with different financial and board characteristics. This contributes to investigating the effect of FD and firm differences.

Concluding, this analysis offers a straightforward comparison of several firms and board characteristics. The differences between firms with three or more FDs, a female CEO and above median FemaleRatio are distinctive and significant. These first results are in line with the literature and according to expectations. To conclude any hypotheses would be too early as many governance relationships know endogeneity.

#### Table 2: Welch t-tests of firms 2020

Comparison of firms split by three female variables. Panel A is grouped by Min3FDs, Panel B by FemaleCEO, and Pancel C by MedianFemaleRatio. Observations include US-listed S&P 1500 firms but exclude financial firms. Variable definitions can be found in the Appendix, Table A. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. MedianFemaleRatio is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a board's FemaleRatio is higher than the median FemaleRatio of the whole sample (2016-2020), and 0 otherwise. LnSalesYearly is the natural logarithm of the total sales in 2020. ROA\_Year is the net income divided by total assets in 2020. ROE\_Year is net income divided by total shareholder's equity. Leverage is the long term debt divided by total assets. TobinsQ is the company's market value, calculated as total assets plus market capitalisation minus shareholder's equity, divided by total assets. BoardSize is the total number of directors on the board per year. Age is the average age on the board. Tenure is the average time a director sits on the board. OtherBoardsPerDirector is the average number of other boards per director. BoardIndependenceRatio is the percentage of directors who are classified as independent. TotalCompensation is the average total compensation per director in thousands of US dollars. including cash and non-cash compensation. Welch T-tests are conducted to test for differences in means. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

	Mean		Mean Difference		Observations	
Panel A: Min3FDs	Firms with less	Firms with at				
	than 3 FDs	least 3 FDs		<3 FDs	≥3 FDs	
LnSalesYearly	7.264	8.382	-1.118***	622	482	
ROA Year	0.027	0.034	-0.007	622	482	
ROE Year	0.046	0.083	-0.037**	622	482	
Leverage	0.278	0.326	-0.048***	617	481	
TobinsQ	2.357	2.413	-0.056	622	482	
BoardSize	8.581	10.348	-1.768***	622	482	
Age	62.685	61.839	0.846***	622	482	
Tenure	8.845	7.643	1.202***	622	482	
OtherBoardsPerDirector	0.673	0.884	-0.21***	622	482	
BoardIndependenceRatio	0.796	0.796 0.844		622	482	
TotalCompensation	224.184	248.877	-24.693***	575	464	
	Me	an	Difference	Observ	ations	
Panel B: FemaleCEO	Firms without	Firms with				
	female CEOs	female CEOs		Without	With	
LnSalesYearly	7.691	8.238	-0.547***	980	124	
ROA Year	0.030	0.036	-0.007	980	124	
ROE Year	0.060	0.085	-0.026	980	124	
Leverage	0.298	0.303 -0.005		975	123	
TobinsQ	2.380	2.393			124	
BoardSize	9.287	9.871 -0.584***		980	124	
Age	62.364	61.931	61.931 0.432		124	
Tenure	8.417	7.556 0.861***		980	124	
OtherBoardsPerDirector	0.749	0.893	-0.144***	980	124	
BoardIndependenceRatio 0.814		0.842	-0.028***	980	124	
TotalCompensation	233.897	245.282	-11.386	919	120	
Panel C: Median	Me	ean	Difference	Observ	ations	
FemaleRatio	Firms below	Firms above				
(Median = 0.22)	median	median		< Median	>median	
LnSalesYearly	7.949	6.848	1.101***	907	197	
ROA Year	0.026	.033	007	466	638	
ROE Year	0.053	.069	015	466	638	
Leverage	0.283	.309	026**	463	635	
TobinsQ	2.290	2.448	158***	466	638	
BoardSize	8.998	9.611	614***	466	638	
Age	62.898	61.89	1.008***	466	638	
Tenure	9.117	7.736	1.381***	466	638	
OtherBoardsPerDirector 0.668		.836	168***	466	638	
BoardIndependenceRatio	0.793	.835	042***	466	638	
TotalCompensation	223.715	243.001	-19.287***	434	605	

# **4.2 Baseline results**

Table 3 present the OLS regressions baseline results of the main explanatory variables on CARs with windows [-1d, +1d] and [-3d, +3d]. To account for industry differences, all baseline models include industry dummies. The CARs are summed abnormal returns within windows and noted in ratio to 1. The coefficients are the average estimated effect on the abnormal returns in the specified window in absolute numbers.

#### 4.2.1 FemaleRatio

Overall, the percentage of female directors on the board does not seem to affect abnormal returns during the Covid-19 events. In the [-1d,+1d] window, only at the official start of the pandemic (PSD) significant negative results have been found (10% level). This coefficient suggests a 5.5 percentage point lower cumulative abnormal returns in the [-1d,+1d] window for companies with 100% female directors on the board compared to those without female directors. This estimation is not in line with expectations and combined with the other event coefficients in this window, I cannot reject the null hypothesis for Hypothesis 1. The significance in Event 3 does not hold for the [-3d,+3] window (Table 3, Panel B). However, in this window, a significant positive result for FemaleRatio is found for Event 2 (PMD suggests a 2.5 percentage point increase (significant at the 5% level) for companies with complete female directors when the market was at the highest level (PMD) before the crash. While other coefficients in the [-3d,+3d] windows are insignificant, the Event 2 coefficient is in line with Hypothesis 1, where outperformance for companies with a higher female board representation is expected. For the [-1d, +5d] window presented in Table 9, a significant estimation of 1.9 percentage point decrease has been found if FemaleRatio would be 1 at Event 5 (RSD), significant at the 5% level.

#### 4.2.2 Min3FDs

The results of models using Min3FDs presented in Table 3 suggest similar patterns as FemaleRatio. As both variables are positively related to the number of female directors on the board, these similarities are expected. The dummy variable for minimal 3 female directors only finds a significant relation, at the 10% level, in the first event (HED). The model suggests a 0.4 percentage point decrease in cumulative abnormal returns for the [-1,+1] window when the WHO declared the increasing outbreak of Covid-19 cases an international health concern. This means that companies with less than three female directors on the board experience better stock returns. No significant results are found for other coefficients in the [-1,+1] window. In line with the significant coefficient for FemaleRatio in the [-3,+3] window, Event 2 suggests a positive relationship between having a minimum of three female directors and the cumulative abnormal return around the peak of the market (PMD), significant at the 10% level. The baseline model shows a 0.4 percentage point increase in CAR for companies meeting the female threshold on their boards. Unfortunately, the extended window [-1d,+5d]

(Table 9) does not have any existing relationships in the baseline models for Min3FDs. Overall, the Critical Mass of three female directors based on research by Kramer et al. (2006) cannot be associated with immediate market behaviour for the Covid-19 events. Therefore, I will not reject the null hypothesis of Hypothesis 2: '*Having a minimum of three female directors on the board is positively related to firm value*'.

### 4.2.3 FemaleCEO

As the previous variables are closely related and investigate the relationship of the level of females on the boards, models including the FemaleCEO variable are focused on female leadership in the Covid-19 crisis. Overall, these results are more in line with the hypotheses, although most coefficients are not found to be significant. As positive relations between female leadership and stock performance are expected, FemaleCEO has the appropriate signs for the baseline estimations. Unfortunately, only two coefficients are significantly different from zero. This is in contrast with FemaleRatio and Min3FDs, as most estimated signs are negative, independent of significance levels. For the [-1,+1] window, positive estimations are established between firms with female CEOs and the abnormal return in Events 5 and 6, significant at 5% and 10%, respectively. The baseline model for Event 5 (RSD) reports a 0.6 percentage point increase in abnormal returns for female-led companies. In the case of Event 6 (JBD), a 0.4 percentage point increase is found on the days around the announcement of Joe Biden as US President. Two events find a significant relationship with CAR for the extended window [-1d, +5d]. Event 1 (HED) shows a 0.6 percentage point increase for companies with a female CEO, significant at the 1% level. For Event 6 (JBD), a 1.0 percentage point increase is found if the CEO is a woman, significant at the 10% level.

Overall, the market seems to value stocks more in the days after some events if the company is female-led. However, there is a difference in market behaviour depending on the selected events. The events at the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, Event 1 (HED) and Event 2 (PMD) find positive relations in the baseline model for the [-3d,+3d] window. This cannot be concluded for the smallest window [-1d,+1d]. The CAR calculated on the extended window, only finds a significant relationship for Event 1 (HED).

#### Table 3: Baseline cumulative abnormal return regression results.

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR in Panel A and B is accumulated in the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows, respectively. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firm's CEO is female. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all baseline models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

F	,			,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,	
Panel A: [-1d,+1d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
CAR	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	011	.009	055*	017	002	01
	(.009)	(.013)	(.027)	(.012)	(.009)	(.021)
Constant	.027***	069***	09***	01***	015***	.019***
	(.002)	(.002)	(.005)	(.002)	(.002)	(.004)
Observations	1040	1030	1030	1033	1034	1040
R-squared	.022	.045	.069	.105	.036	.019
Min3FDs	004*	.001	013	001	002	.002
	(.002)	(.002)	(.009)	(.003)	(.001)	(.003)
Constant	.026***	068***	099***	013***	015***	.016***
	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(.002)
Observations	1040	1030	1030	1033	1034	1040
R-squared	.024	.044	.071	.104	.036	.019
it squares			1071		1020	
FemaleCEO	.002	.004	002	.006	.006**	.004*
	(.002)	(.003)	(.007)	(.004)	(.002)	(.002)
Constant	.025***	068***	099***	013***	015***	.017***
	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Observations	1040	1030	1030	1033	1034	1040
R-squared	.021	.045	.065	.105	.039	.019
Panel B: [-3d.+3d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
CAR	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	019	.025**	075	022	.006	011
	(.018)	(.01)	(.048)	(.025)	(.013)	(.023)
Constant	.042***	086***	.149***	081***	013***	.013**
	(.004)	(.002)	(.008)	(.004)	(.002)	(.005)
Observations	1040	1030	1030	1033	1034	1040
R-squared	.007	.024	.074	.049	.042	.007
1						
Min3FDs	002	.004*	025	001	002	005
	(.003)	(.002)	(.015)	(.005)	(.002)	(.004)
Constant	.039***	082***	.137***	085***	012***	.013***
	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(.002)
Observations	1040	1030	1030	1033	1034	1040
R-squared	.006	.023	.078	.048	.043	.009
FemaleCEO	.006**	.01**	019	001	.004	.006
	(.003)	(.004)	(.011)	(.009)	(.002)	(.006)
Constant	.038***	082***	.137***	085***	012***	.011***
	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Observations	1040	1030	1030	1033	1034	1040
R-squared	.008	.026	.073	.048	.043	.008

# 4.3 Full model results

Table 4 present the OLS regressions results of the three explanatory and control variables on CARs within the [-3,+3] window. The models include firm and governance control variables. To account for industry differences, all models include industry dummies. Industry dummies are based on

2-digit SIC codes. The CARs are summed returns within windows, and the coefficients are the absolute change in the CAR per unit increase of the associated variable. A coefficient of 1.0 should be interpreted as an increase of 100 percentage points for every unit increase in the independent variable.

#### 4.3.1 FemaleRatio and full models

Table 4.A shows the results of the extended models for the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows. Besides Event 3 (PSD) and Event 4 (PUD) in the short window [-1d,+1d], no significant relationship between the percentage of female directors and the abnormal returns is found. For the Pandemic Start Date (Event 3), the result suggests a 5.8 percentage decrease for companies having a 100% female board, significant at the 10% level. When unemployment was very high as a result of the pandemic (Event 4, PUD), a decrease of 3.1 percentage points has been found if FemaleRatio would be 1 (10%). As the model and the window are similar for all events, it appears that Event 3 and 4 create a level of market sentiment where the presence of female directors is punished. However, as the significance does no hold for the longer period [-3d,+3d]. In the sample, no board holds only women. Therefore the coefficients for FemaleRatio are not realistic to interpret to the full extent. However, it shows that increased levels of female directors negatively affect stock performance in the very short term. Comparing the results with baseline models, Event 3 (PSD) confirms the negative relationship and Event 4 (PUD) distinguishes the negative relation if control variables are included.

Results of extended models in the [-3d,+3] window are presented in Panel B of Table 4.A. All of the estimated coefficients are insignificantly different from zero. This means that the percentage of females on the board has no relationship to the abnormal stock performance for the extended period. The model loses significance for Events 3 and 4 compared to the [-1d,+1d] window. Compared to [-3d,+3d], the results for the [-1d,+5d] window (Table 9) only diff in the coefficient for Event 5 (RSD), finding a significant negative coefficient of 0.042, significant at the 1% level. This result shows that companies with complete female boards would have a 4.2% percentage point decrease in the CAR calculated mostly after the date when the US economy was declared to be in a recession. Overall, the models including the control variables do not find new patterns for the FemaleRatio in the CARs. The null hypothesis of Hypothesis 1 is not rejected based on these results.

# 4.3.2 Min3FDs and full models

Further, most of the full models in the event study do not show new results for Min3FDs compared to the baseline models. Besides Event 1 (HED), all coefficients remain insignificant. HED shows a slightly stronger negative relationship between having three female directors and the CAR in the [-1d, +1d] window: a 0.5 percentage point decrease, significant at the 10% level. For the [-3d, +3d] window, the significant coefficient of Event 2 (PMD) does not hold when control variables are included.

However, the results of the extended regression models in the [-1d, +5] window (Table 9) show a new negative coefficient for Event 5 (RSD), significant at the 1% level. This result suggests a 1 percentage point decrease in CARs for companies with at least three female directors when the US is declared to be in a recession. In the baseline model (Table 5), all estimations were not significantly different from zero. Subsequently, these results are not in line with expectations, and with the full results, Hypothesis 2 cannot be accepted.

#### 4.3.3 FemaleCEO and full models

Moreover, in the [-1d, +1d] window, FemaleCEO appears to stay significant on CARs for Events 5 and 6 in the extended models. For Event 5 (RSD), the same 0.6 percentage point increase is expected for female-led companies, after controlling for firm and governance variables, significant at the 5% level. Event 6 (JBD) finds a 0.5 percentage point increase in CAR for companies with a female CEO, significant at the 10% level.

Similar conclusions can be drawn from the full regression models in the [-3d, +3d] window (Table 4). Where the baseline model found significant positive estimates for Event 1 (HED) and Event 2 (PMD), the models including the control variables show another significant coefficient for Event 5 (RSD). FemaleCEO regressed on CAR and controlling for firm and governance variables suggest a 0.6 percentage point increase for HED (10% significance), 0.9 percentage point increase for PMD (5%) and a 0.05 percentage point increase for RSD (5%).

Table 9 presents the same significant coefficients for FemaleCEO regression on CAR in the [-1d, +5d] window in line with different event windows. Event 1 (HED) suggests a 0.6 percentage point increase for women-led companies, significant at 1%. Event 6 (JBD) keeps the same value for the extended regression model, a 1% increase in CAR if FemaleCEO is equal to 1, significant at the 10% level.

The models including control variables establish similar results for the relationship between companies having a female CEO and the cumulative abnormal returns in all windows. These findings are in line with expectations and appear to isolate the positive effect of female CEOs on stock performance. Despite the different events, the results for FemaleCEO on CAR in significantly positive for the [-3d,+3d] window. This leads to the acceptance of the third hypothesis, a positive relationship between female CEOs and firm value in Covid-19. Important to highlight is that it appears that investors do value the leadership of females in certain events, whereas a mixed board is perceived as less valuable in a crisis.

#### Table 4.A: Extended cumulative abnormal return regression results

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR in Panel A and B is accumulated in the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows, respectively. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firm's CEO is female. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all baseline models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

Panel A: [-1d.+1d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
CAR	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	016	.006	058*	031*	006	.005
	(.011)	(.013)	(.026)	(.014)	(.013)	(.026)
Constant	.014	072**	081	038	012	042*
	(.017)	(.022)	(.061)	(.04)	(.011)	(.022)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.043	.053	.091	.123	.061	.068
Min3FDs	005*	001	014	005	002	.005
	(.002)	(.003)	(.009)	(.004)	(.002)	(.005)
Constant	.01	071**	101	048	014	04
	(.015)	(.023)	(.055)	(.042)	(.012)	(.025)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.046	.053	.092	.122	.062	.071
FemaleCEO	.002	.004	004	.004	.006**	.005*
~	(.002)	(.003)	(.006)	(.005)	(.002)	(.003)
Constant	.011	07**	096	046	013	04
	(.015)	(.022)	(.059)	(.04)	(.013)	(.026)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.041	.054	.087	.12	.063	.07
Panal B. [-3d +3d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 1	Event 5	Event 6
raner D. [-Ju,+Ju] CAR	HED	PMD	PSD		RSD	IRD
FemaleRatio	- 024	017	- 062	- 03	008	0
remateratio	(022)	(019)	(042)	(023)	(022)	(029)
Constant	017	- 108**	184	003	048*	026
Constant	(042)	(046)	(118)	(045)	(025)	(033)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.015	.062	.101	.073	.069	.04
Min3FDs	004	.002	023	003	001	003
	(.003)	(.004)	(.014)	(.005)	(.004)	(.005)
Constant	.011	103*	.159	006	.049	.026
	(.037)	(.046)	(.108)	(.046)	(.031)	(.03)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.015	.061	.104	.072	.069	.041
FemaleCEO	.006*	.009**	02*	001	.005**	.007
	(.003)	(.004)	(.009)	(.01)	(.002)	(.006)
Constant	.012	103*	.168	005	.05	.027
	(.038)	(.046)	(.112)	(.045)	(.03)	(.03)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.015	.064	.101	.071	.07	.042

# 4.4 Cross-sectional analysis of female representation

As results on female representation in boards are still mixed, prior research can be used to investigate further the cross-sectional effect of female directors on firm performance. First, Chen et al. (2009) find significant results in their research on FDs and CEO overconfidence that female directors mitigate CEOs' overconfidence in specific industries. They even conclude that firms with diverse boards performed less bad during the Global Financial Crisis due to female directors and their influence on CEO decision making. The event study will be repeated, including overconfident industries, to measure possible outperformance during the Covid-19 pandemic. Secondly, another relevant angle on diverse boards and firm performance by industry is presented in the paper by Brammer, Millington and Pavelin (2007). They investigate the cross-sectional level of gender and ethnic diversity among UK boards and find significant results on female representation in boards of companies close to the final customers. To capture possible effects suggested in this paper, an additional analysis, including the industries mentioned by Brammer et al. (2007), will capture possible interaction effects. Thirdly, as research found that female directors tend to sit on boards of large companies (Harrigan, 1981; Agrawal & Knoeber, 2001; Carter et al., 2003), an interaction term will be added to investigate if female representation at large firms results in differences in stock performance.

Concluding, the following subsection will discuss an additional analysis of CARs and interaction terms mentioned above, including the three main female variables, overconfidence industries, ClosetoConsumers Industries (CtC) and firm size.

#### 4.4.1 Female representation in Overconfidence Industries

The construction of the CEO overconfidence proxy is known as the 'Moneyness' or 'Holder 67' variable. This proxy is extensively used in papers of Malmendier & Tate (2005; 2008), Chen et al. (2019), and Campbell, Gallmeyer, Johnson, Rutherford & Stanley (2011). In these papers, the proxy of overconfidence is based on how deep in-the-money options CEOs hold when they are still in charge of firms. If CEOs hold exercisable options which are over 67% in-the-money (Holder 67), they are considered overconfident. As Chen et al. (2019) and, Malmendier & Tate (2005) present overconfidence per industry in earlier periods, new 2019 data on the equity rewards for directors in the US is extracted from the ExecuComp database. Average overconfidence levels are calculated for 2016-2019. 2020 is not included as the pandemic could alter the expected level of confidence. The average CEO overconfidence is a variable equal to 1 if the CEO is classified as Holder 67, and 0 otherwise. To be classified as Holder 67, a CEO has an option portfolio that averages at least 67% in-the-money. The portfolios analysed include exercisable but not yet exercised options. The percentage of in-the-money options is measured in the variable Moneyness. In line with the research (Malmendier and Tate, 2004; Chen et al., 2019), Moneyness is defined in equation (4):

$$Moneyness_{c,t} = \frac{Share \ price_t}{Share \ price_t - \frac{Total \ realisable \ value_t}{\# \ exercisable \ options \ held_t}}$$

- *Moneyness<sub>c</sub>* is the percentage of the option portfolio classified as in-the-money, per CEO, at year t
- Share price is the share price of the CEO's company at year t
- *Total realisable value* is the aggregated difference between the strike price and the share price at year t
- # exercisable options is the total number of options classified as exercisable, but not exercised yet, at year t

The data from ExecuComp provides 3.439 CEO observations from 2016-2019 who hold exercisable options in their portfolio. 3.257 CEOs are male (95%), and 182 are female (5%). CEO observations with no stock data are dropped. CEO compensation packages exist out of several options components with different strike prices. The realisable value is calculated per option component and is the difference between the strike price and the share price, multiplied by the total options held in the component. These values aggregated are the Total realisable value per CEO. The Average Realisable Value per Option (AVRO) is the Total realisable value divided by the total number of exercisable options held by the CEO. This value is the average strike price for the CEO portfolio. Lastly, Moneyness is calculated by the Share price divided by the difference between the Share price and the AVRO (see Equation (4)).

Next, statistics on the average Moneyness and Overconfidence per industry are used to identify industries with overconfident CEOs and presented in Table 11 (Panel A). Industries with average Moneyness of 67% are used as Overconfident Industries (OI). The Fama-French 12 Industry classification is combined with SIC codes from ExecuComp (Appendix Table 10).

Based on the statistics (Appendix Table 11) and the Holder 67 measure, six of 12 industries can be considered overconfident. These are Non-durable Consumer Goods, Business Equipment, Telecom, Healthcare, Money and Other. Average Moneyness per CEO ranges from 72.5% (Non-durable Consumer Goods) to 114.7% (Healthcare), and 75.1% in-the-money across all industries. The average CEO overconfidence in the most confident industries ranges from 35.2% of CEOs in Telecom to 49.7% of CEOs in Bussiness Equipment. Furthermore, the overconfident industries (IO) are used in the interaction terms FemaleRatioXOI, Min3FDsXOI and FemaleCEOXOI. These interaction terms and the OI variable are added for all events to the OLS regression model (3), specified in section 3.4. The extended regressions will be estimated on the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows. Lastly, despite the new industry classifications, the same SICIndustry dummy variables are used to maintain comparability with the initial CAR analysis. The results of the cross-sectional analysis for overconfidence industries (OI) are presented in Table 5. This table only includes the main independent variables and interaction terms
for both windows and no control variables. The full model results, including control variables, are in the Appendix (Tables 12 and 13).

Finally, the results for FemaleRatio do show significant estimations in rare cases. Overall, the interaction variable FemaleRatioXOI is insignificant for most events and windows. However, the interaction term is significantly positive (5%) in Event 1. In the case of an entire female board, the positive coefficient in the model suggests that higher female board representation in Overconfident Industries increases the abnormal returns with a maximal of 4.6 percentage points in the three-day window of the Health Emergency Day event. This effect does not hold for the [-3d, +3d] window. However, in this window, Event 3 shows an extremely high positive coefficient for FemaleRatioXOI of 21.1 percentage points if the board were entirely female. The effect is significant at the 10% level. Event 3 includes the PandemicStartDate, implying that investors on this day valued the presence of female directors, a rare but strong result supporting Hypothesis 1. H1 expects higher female representation to increase firm value. Unfortunately, the implied relation for Event 3 does not hold for Min3FDs and FemaleCEO, as coefficients are insignificant for these interaction terms. For Min3FDs, similar dynamics are suggested regarding Event 1, with a 1 percentage point increase in CAR if the firm has three FDs and is active in OI, significant at the 10% level. However, the relation between Min3FDs and OI and CAR are both negative, and the cumulative magnitude of CAR overshadows the effect of the interaction term. Further, having a female CEO in OI does have a significant positive impact on CARs for Events 2 and 5 (5% level). These results in the [-1d,+1d] window show that the market recognises female leadership at public firms. For the [-3d,+3d] window, the positive relationship for Event 2 (PMD) holds but disappears in the model for Event 5. Interestingly, Event 4 estimation of the interaction term becomes significantly negative, suggesting female leadership around the PeakUnemploymentDate is not appreciated by investors.

#### **Table 5: CAR Extension Overconfidence results**

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns including overconfidence proxies. This table only presents concise results of the main independent variables. Results including all control variables estimates are provided in the Appendix (Tables 12 and 13). The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR in Panel A and B is accumulated in the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows, respectively. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. OI is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a company is classified as overconfident (Overconfident Industries), based on statistics presented in Table 11, and 0 otherwise. These three variables are used to construct interaction variables named as 'variable' + XOI. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

Panel A: [-1d,+1d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
CAR	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	042**	.015	114	035	049	.005
	(.015)	(.025)	(.065)	(.021)	(.034)	(.033)
OI	02***	.003	028	015	027	0
	(.005)	(.008)	(.02)	(.013)	(.018)	(.006)
FemaleRatioXOI	.046**	015	.099	.008	.077	0
	(.015)	(.029)	(.067)	(.023)	(.045)	(.021)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.065	.054	.094	.137	.077	.068
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Min3FDs	01**	.001	03	008	009*	.005
	(.004)	(.003)	(.02)	(.007)	(.005)	(.006)
OI	012***	0	015	015	013	0
	(.003)	(.004)	(.015)	(.012)	(.011)	(.005)
Min3FDsXOI	.01*	003	.029	.004	.013	0
	(.005)	(.005)	(.022)	(.008)	(.007)	(.004)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.068	.054	.099	.136	.075	.071
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
FemaleCEO	002	001	.004	.007*	001	.004
	(.004)	(.003)	(.008)	(.003)	(.004)	(.005)
OI	009**	002	001	012	009	0
	(.003)	(.002)	(.018)	(.01)	(.008)	(.007)
FemaleCEOXOI	.006	.01**	017	006	.015**	.003
	(.005)	(.004)	(.01)	(.008)	(.006)	(.008)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.057	.057	.088	.134	.073	.07
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Panel B: [-3d,+3d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
CAR	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	038	0	182	02	009	.017
	(.034)	(.038)	(.101)	(.054)	(.04)	(.04)
OI	017*	012	06	003	016	.011
	(.008)	(.015)	(.037)	(.017)	(.015)	(.009)
FemaleRatioXOI	.024	.03	.211*	017	.03	029
	(.025)	(.048)	(.106)	(.059)	(.038)	(.031)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.028	.064	.106	.075	.075	.042
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Min3FDs	007	.002	053	002	004	004
	(.004)	(.006)	(.031)	(.011)	(.003)	(.007)

OI	013**	004	029	007	011	.004
	(.005)	(.008)	(.023)	(.013)	(.006)	(.004)
Min3FDsXOI	.005	001	.053	002	.006**	0
	(.005)	(.007)	(.035)	(.012)	(.002)	(.006)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.027	.062	.112	.074	.075	.042
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
FemaleCEO	.002	.002	032**	.011	.006	.013*
	(.006)	(.002)	(.011)	(.007)	(.006)	(.007)
OI	012	005	01	005	008	.005
	(.006)	(.006)	(.034)	(.015)	(.007)	(.005)
FemaleCEOXOI	.008	.017**	.025	027*	003	011
	(.008)	(.005)	(.018)	(.013)	(.01)	(.007)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.027	.068	.102	.077	.075	.044
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

#### 4.4.2 Female representation in Close-to-Customer Industries

Next to the main analysis and the cross-sectional analysis, including overconfident industries, additional industry segregation will be used to capture gender effects between industries. The paper of Brammer et al. (2007) finds that board diversity differs between industries based on how close they operate to the final customers. They find above-average representation in Retail, Utilities, Media and Banking. As female executives might favour these industries by personal preference, possible stronger relations between FDs and firm performance based on CtC distinction are analysed. For simplicity, the industries found by Brammer et al. (2007) are used as interaction terms on the CARs.

Brammer et al. (2007) industry data has a DataStream ICB industry classification. The authors eventually categorise 13 industries. Due to time limitations, the exact distinction between industries used by the authors and the associated SIC codes in this paper's sample could not be identified. However, the SIC classification can roughly be matched with the industries found in their paper, as Brammer et al. (2007) state this comparison too. For Retail and Media, Retail Trade SIC 2-digit codes 52-59 are used. For Utilities (Utilities) and Banking (Finance, Insurance & Real Estate), 40-49 and 60-67 are used, respectively. The dummy variable CtC is constructed, which is 1 if the 2-digit code is in between any of these ranges, and 0 otherwise. Next, interaction terms FemaleRatioXCtC, Min3FDsXCtC and FemaleCEOXCtC are constructed to include in the regression model (3) specified in section 3.4. The results are concisely presented in Table 6 and extensively in the Appendix (Table 14 and 15)

Following, Table 6 presents the results of this CtC event study. Firms in the CtC industries experience similar effects on their CARs per event, including the three different female variables. These effects would probably depend on the economic implications of those events, as companies in CtC are per definition close to human interaction, something which was of high relevance during the pandemic. Also, the percentage of FDs on the board is generally not significantly related to CAR in both windows.

Event 4 (PUD) shows a significant negative estimation 0.34 for both the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows. Similar coefficients are found for Event 1 (HED) and FemaleRatio. The estimations for a 100% female board are of large magnitude, as the results suggest a decrease of 3.6 percentage points on the CAR. Another interesting effect is the 0.069 coefficient for FemaleRatioXCtC on the [-1d,+1d] window for Event 6 (JBD), significant at the 5% level. The positive relation around this event suggests that Joe Biden announced as president increased abnormal returns for firms with high female representation active in the CtC industries. In contrast, the CtC dummy variable is significantly negative to CAR around Joe Biden's announcement. Furthermore, Min3FDs do not present relevant coefficients in both windows. The FD Critical Mass (and in the CtC industries) is irrelevant to investors. Regarding the FemaleCEO regressions, it is notable that significant positive coefficients have been estimated in both event windows for three out of six events. However, female CEOs lead to lower CAR in some events as the models find three significant negative coefficients for the interaction term FemaleCEOXCtC across both windows.

Concluding, controlling for ClosetoConsumers industries suggested by Brammer et al. (2007) and female leadership in several forms does not present strong evidence for stronger stock performance through female representation. The CtC industry dummy is relevant to explaining CAR variance, despite including industry dummies. This suggests that abnormal stock returns can be related to sector-wide effects resulting from the events.

#### Table 6: CAR Extension ClosetoConsumers (CtC) results

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns including ClosetoConsumers industry proxies. This table only presents concise results of the main independent variables. Results including all control variables estimates are provided in the Appendix (Tables 14 and 15). The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR in Panel A and B is accumulated in the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows, respectively. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. CtC is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a company is classified as ClosetoConsumer based on Brammer, Millington & Pavelin (2007), and 0 otherwise. The main female variables are used to construct interaction variables named as 'variable' + XCtC. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

Panel A: [-1d,+1d] CAR	Event 1 HED	Event 2 PMD	Event 3 PSD	Event 4 PUD	Event 5 RSD	Event 6 JBD
FemaleRatio	019	003	038	034*	.001	011
	(.013)	(.012)	(.028)	(.015)	(.011)	(.025)
CtC	012***	.022***	055	.012	015**	027***
	(.002)	(.005)	(.034)	(.008)	(.005)	(.007)
FemaleRatioXCtC	.019	.015	025	.002	009	.069**
	(.013)	(.018)	(.123)	(.023)	(.014)	(.029)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.045	.067	.104	.124	.067	.073
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Min3FDs	- 005**	- 001	- 008	- 004	- 002	003
1111101 25	(002)	(004)	(009)	(003)	(002)	(005)
CtC	009***	.027***	051**	.015**	019***	013**
	(.002)	(.002)	(.019)	(.006)	(.003)	(.005)
Min3FDsXCtC	.004	002	02	007	.003	.009
	(.004)	(.003)	(.034)	(.006)	(.002)	(.009)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.048	.067	.108	.124	.067	.073
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
FemaleCEO	.003	.006**	.001	.007	.007**	.004*
	(.003)	(.002)	(.004)	(.006)	(.003)	(.002)
CtC	007***	.028***	064***	.011***	019***	008***
	(.002)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.002)	(.002)
FemaleCEOXCtC	003	01**	009	01	001	.006
	(.004)	(.004)	(.023)	(.006)	(.004)	(.009)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.043	.069	.102	.122	.069	.071
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Panel B: [-3d,+3d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
CAR	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	036*	.008	032	034*	.012	001
	(.019)	(.022)	(.059)	(.015)	(.024)	(.029)
CtC	011	.025***	038	.024	.016*	029
	(.014)	(.007)	(.035)	(.026)	(.008)	(.022)
FemaleRatioXCtC	.045	.01	068	005	024	.022
	(.048)	(.023)	(.149)	(.076)	(.027)	(.078)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.017	.069	.105	.075	.07	.045
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Min3FDs	006*	.001	012	001	.001	001
	(.003)	(.004)	(.016)	(.004)	(.004)	(.006)
CtC	003	.03***	028	.028**	.014***	016**
	(.005)	(.006)	(.024)	(.011)	(.003)	(.007)
Min3FDsXCtC	.006	002	047	013	008**	01
	(.008)	(.007)	(.052)	(.012)	(.003)	(.012)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.015	.069	.111	.075	.071	.047
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
FemaleCEO	.009*	.011**	009	.001	.004*	.008
	(.004)	(.004)	(.009)	(.011)	(.002)	(.006)
CtC	0	.029***	052***	.021**	.009***	023***
	(.002)	(.002)	(.009)	(.008)	(.002)	(.003)
FemaleCEOXCtC	007*	009*	031	006	.001	001
	(.004)	(.005)	(.028)	(.022)	(.003)	(.016)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.016	.072	.106	.073	.071	.047
Industry Dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control Variables	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

## 5. Discussion & Limitations

This paper investigates if female board representation positively affects firm value during the Covid-19 pandemic. As female representation grows in corporate organisations, the findings contribute to the existing literature by analysing diverse boards at US companies during the pandemic. As most papers have found mixed effects of gender diversity in boards and firm governance, the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic offers a unique environment to test the impact of growing female representation on corporate boards. The rationale of this paper is primarily based on the findings of diverse boards improving corporate governance presented by Adams and Ferreira (2009) and new evidence from Chen et al. (2019) , who found positive effects of female directors on firm performance in the GFC. Other research established positive associations between female directors and internal management, shareholder management and corporate governance. In combination with unprecedent levels of female directors in the US, implications of positive relationships between female directors and firm value are significant and could accelerate efforts to diversify boards.

Further, the paper presents results on the relationship between female representation and stock performance in a crisis. Testing for differences between groups with relatively high and low female leadership suggests that diverse boards differ on ROE, sales, leverage and board characteristics. However, no statistical differences can be found between ROA and Leverage. The findings of the event studies present mostly insignificant coefficients for the main independent variables. For the baseline models (Table 3), eight out of 36 estimations are significant for female variables, with six coefficients significantly positive. The extended models, including control variables, only find four out of 36 estimates to be significant, with one being significantly positive. The findings suggest a possible relationship between female leadership and firm value in the Covid-19 pandemic but are not considered strong enough to reject any null hypotheses. These hypotheses (Section 2.4) expect positive relations between the female variables (FemaleRatio, Min3FDs, and FemaleCEO) and stock performance during the pandemic. The mixed results align with previous research into gender diversity in governance, as both negative and positive findings have been presented.

A wide range of reasons can cause the mixed results. Generally, there could be three reasons. First, there is no relationship between female representation and firm value. Second, there is a relationship, but the methodology is insufficient to capture this relation. Inadequate methods or limitations can cause biased results to come out. Third, there is a relationship, but the financial markets are inefficient. The actual reason is likely a combination of these explanations. A selection bias in the events can cause to miss out on capturing the anticipated relationship. In addition to this method. a major flaw of the event study is the assumption that markets are efficient. Lim, Brooks and Kim (2008) find that market efficiency decreases in times of crisis due to investors' chaotic economic environment and overreaction to the news. The Covid-19 pandemic had similar aspects in 2020. The same research also finds overreaction to news in other markets. The level of globalisation might increase this effect on investors.

According to the KOF Globalisation Index, the Covid-19 pandemic started at an all-time high for the globalisation score (Gygli, Healg, Potrafke & Sturm, 2019). Furthermore, the pandemic caused much social unrest, increasing the complexity of correctly estimating the pandemic's economic and societal implications for investors. Previous research presents a negative relationship between social unrest, confidence and uncertainty in stock markets (Barret, Bondar, Chen, Chivakul & Igan, 2021; Epstein& Schniet, 2002; Hadzi-Vaskov, Pienknagura & Ricca, 2021). Another possible factor affecting investor behaviour is the unusual macroeconomic policy activated by central banks worldwide. The FED in the US introduced quantitative easing programmes to support the (internationally integrated) US markets. This causes investors to adjust their interpretation of economic relevant events, which is hard to capture in a relative simple econometric model. Nozowa and Qiu (2021) try to define corporate bonds' credit spread behaviour impacted by the same quantitative easing in 2020. Credit spreads are effectively representing default risks and should reflect corporate risks. However, they are unable to completely define credit spreads in the first six months of 2020. Furthermore, the different results between events might be caused by many implications Covid-19 could have. Not all events have the same negative or positive effect on companies. This increases the complexity of interpreting all models equally.

Furthermore, there are limitations to the methods used in this paper. First, due to time constraints, only event studies have been conducted to analyse the effect of female directors and short-term stock performance in the Covid-19 pandemic. Additionally, the selected days for the event study show limited discrepancies in stock performance for companies grouped by the main independent gender dummy variables (Min3FDs and FemaleCEO). The stock performances around the events in a [-20d, +20d] window are presented in Figure 2 (Appendix). Overall, these graphs show similar returns for both groups, measured by the accumulated abnormal returns (AAR). Based on these graphs, strong differences between diverse firms are not evident. In contrast, the univariate analysis in Section 4.1 presents significant differences between the groups. Furthermore, the methods behind the Overconfidence and ClosetoConsumers cross-sectional analysis include limitations too. The overconfidence measured by 'Moneyness' does not consider the options' expiration, which might influence if CEOs feel the need to exercise. Additionally, the economic environment for the Overconfidence period 2016-2019 has not been investigated to determine exceptional drivers of overconfidence. This might impact the industry selection based on results in Table 11 (Appendix). Regarding the CtC models, the selected industries which are found to be highly represented by females (Brammer et al., 2007) could not be classified explicitly due to missing SIC specifications. The industries are manually selected on the SIC sector definitions. This might cause a sample bias. Nevertheless, the coefficients of the CtC dummy on CARs are highly significant, while dummy variables are included too.

Next, a suggestion for further research would be an extension of the period and could include more financial data on firm performance for the whole Covid-19 period. The current event study includes

only 2020, whereas the pandemic continued in 2021 and is currently still active in Q1 2022. As Chen et al. (2019) took the delta on performance measures such as ROA and Tobin's Q over the GFC period, they found results suggesting better firm performance over time through female directors. This paper is limited to only 2020 financial data published on Compustat. 2021 data was not yet available at the time of collection. However, I expect the implications of missing out on 2021 data to be moderate as the Covid-19 pandemic economically had the most considerable exogenous shock in 2020. Any event study, including both 2020 and 2021 dates, would have to correct for adaptability of industries and firms as the business shows resilience through monetary and governmental cushions. This would make capturing the effect of female leadership in crisis noisy. Another suggestion would be to measure the impact of female directors on governance during the pandemic and how this would affect firm performance. Due to time limitations, this paper only includes possible direct effects of female directors and stock performance in a crisis. Research suggests that female directors change culture and behaviour in the boardroom (e.g. Adams & Ferreira, 2009; Chen et al., 2019; Kramer et al., 2007). Corporate governance mechanisms are not taken into account in this paper. Adam and Ferreira (2009) do this and find significant negative results for female representation as take-over mechanisms are weak. Further research could analyse this by using the governance index of Gompers, Ishii and Metrick (2003) to measure how strong governmental mechanisms are per firm.

Concluding, as this paper aims to capture a possible relationship between female directorships at S&P 1500 companies in the US, the results are insufficient to present substantial implications. The literature discussed in this research remains relevant and strong enough to expect a positive relationship between female board representation and firm value still exists. This paper is limited in its methodology and data, and unable to find strong relations for female representation in boards. Female CEOs are found to have a positive effect on firm value. If more significantly positive results were to be found, the relevance for corporate America is obvious. Besides ethical arguments for gender diversity, enhancing firm value could boost hiring and promoting strategies at firms to balance boardrooms.

## 6. Conclusion

This paper investigates the possible relation between female directors (FDs) and firm value during the Covid-19 pandemic. Research on the relationship between female representation, corporate governance and management provides solid arguments supporting positive expectations between FDs and firm value. However, research on female directors and recent crises is limited, especially considering the levels of female representation are low in those years. If women are better represented on boards, it contributes to higher quality data to establish robust results on gender differences within corporate governance and leadership. This paper uses 2020 data of US-based S&P 1500 firms to analyse abnormal returns of diverse boards around Covid-19 related events. The main independent variables used for female representation include the percentage of female directors (FemaleRatio), a dummy variable for 'Critical Mass' of female directors (Min3FDs), and a dummy variable if the firms' CEO is female. These variables are separately regressed on the cumulate abnormal returns around six events in 2020. Additionally, cross-sectional extensions are constructed to capture abnormal returns related to female representation in specified industries. Overall, this research contributes to diverse corporate boards and their relationship to governance in crisis.

In contrast to the large body of literature on the benefits of female leadership, the results in this paper do not find strong results on the relationship between female representation and cumulative abnormal returns in Covid-19. The estimations for each of the six events differ across windows and between events. Important to highlight is the fact that some models do present positive significant results for the main independent variables. However, as most of the coefficients are insignificant, the findings overall are insufficient to conclude a positive relationship. Further, the cross-sectional analysis presents similar results. The inclusion of proxies for overconfident industries and industries which have close proximity to the final customer should be considered in future research, as coefficients for these proxies are highly significant. The methodology and data in this paper have some severe limitations. Event studies assume efficient markets, an assumption challenging to uphold in times of a pandemic. Additionally, financial data on firms was constrained at the time of this research. Furthermore, the selected events show weak patterns of discrepancies between diverse and less diverse boards.

Concluding, this paper contributes to the growing literature on diverse boards and firm values. The results are insufficient to accept new relationships for female representation in boards. It finds sufficient results on higher firm value if a female CEO is leading the company. Additionally, it offers implications for future research, which could significantly contribute to enhancing gender diversity on boards, as economic incentives would be highly relevant.

- Adams, R. B., & Ferreira, D. (2007). A Theory of Friendly Boards. *The Journal of Finance*, 62(1), 217–250. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2007.01206.x
- Adams, R. B., & Ferreira, D. (2009). Women in the boardroom and their impact on governance and performance. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 94(2), 291–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2008.10.007
- Agrawal, A., & Knoeber, C. R. (1996). Firm Performance and Mechanisms to Control Agency Problems between Managers and Shareholders. *The Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 31(3), 377. https://doi.org/10.2307/2331397
- Agrawal, A., & Knoeber, C. (2001). Do Some Outside Directors Play a Political Role? *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 44(1), 179–198. https://doi.org/10.1086/320271
- AlHares, A. (2020). Corporate governance and cost of capital in OECD countries. *International Journal* of Accounting & Information Management, 28(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijaim-02-2019-0023
- American Bar Association, 2009, Report of the Task Force of the ABA Section of Business Law Corporate Governance Committee on delineation of governance roles & responsibilities, *The Business Lawyer*, 65, 107–152.
- Arya, B., & Zhang, G. (2009). Institutional Reforms and Investor Reactions to CSR Announcements: Evidence from an Emerging Economy. Journal of Management Studies, 46(7), 1089–1112. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2009.00836.x
- Baysinger, B., & Hoskisson, R. E. (1990). The Composition of Boards of Directors and Strategic Control: Effects on Corporate Strategy. Academy of Management Review, 15(1), 72–87. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1990.4308231
- Baysinger, B. D., & Zardkoohi, A. (1986). Technology, Residual Claimants, and Corporate Control. *The Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization*, 2(2), 339–349. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jleo.a036915
- Belkin, D. (2021, September 7). A Generation of American Men Give Up on College: 'I Just Feel Lost'. *The Wall Street Journal*. Retrieved 17 March 2022, from https://www.wsj.com/articles/collegeuniversity-fall-higher-education-men-women-enrollment-admissions-back-to-school-11630948233
- Bennedsen, M., Simintzi, E., Tsoutsoura, M., & Wolfenzon, D. (2019). Do Firms Respond to Gender Pay Gap Transparency? *Working Paper*. https://doi.org/10.3386/w25435
- Bertrand, M., Black, S. E., Jensen, S., & Lleras-Muney, A. (2018). Breaking the Glass Ceiling? The Effect of Board Quotas on Female Labour Market Outcomes in Norway. *The Review of Economic Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1093/restud/rdy032

- Biden For President. (2020, September 22). *The Biden Agenda for Women*. Joe Biden for President: Official Campaign Website. Retrieved 29 April 2022, from https://joebiden.com/womensagenda/
- BoardEx. (2021, July). Global Gender Balance Report 2021. https://boardex.com
- Boehmer, E. (1991). Event-study methodology under conditions of event-induced variance. Journal of Financial Economics, 30(2), 253–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405x(91)90032-f
- Borgschulte, M., Guenzel, M., Liu, C., & Malmendier, U. (Working paper). CEO Stress, Aging, and Death. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. Version of January 3, 2022.
- Bourez V. (2005), Women on boards: Moving beyond tokenism. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 102(2), 299–317.
- Bordalo, P., Coffman, K., Gennaioli, N., & Shleifer, A. (2019). Beliefs about Gender. *American Economic Review*, 109(3), 739–773. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20170007
- Brammer, S., Millington, A., & Pavelin, S. (2007). Gender and Ethnic Diversity Among UK Corporate Boards. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 15(2), 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8683.2007.00569.x
- Branson, D., 2006. No Seat at the Table: How Corporate Governance keeps Women out of America's boardrooms. *New York University Press*, New York.
- Brown, A., & Yang, F. (2015). Does society underestimate women? Evidence from the performance of female jockeys in horse racing. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 111, 106–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2014.12.031
- Financial Reporting Council (FRC). (1992, December). *The Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance*, a.k.a. '*Cadbury Report*'. https://ecgi.global/code/cadbury-report-financial-aspects-corporate-governance
- Campbell, T. C., Gallmeyer, M., Johnson, S. A., Rutherford, J., & Stanley, B. W. (2011). CEO optimism and forced turnover. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 101(3), 695–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2011.03.004
- Campbell, J. Y., Lo, A. W., MacKinlay, A. C., & Whitelaw, R. F. (1998). *The Econometrics of Financial Markets. Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 2(4), 559–562. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1365100598009092
- Campbell, K., & Mínguez-Vera, A. (2007). Gender Diversity in the Boardroom and Firm Financial Performance. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 83(3), 435–451. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-007-9630-y
- Catalyst. (2000). 2000 Catalyst Census of Women Corporate Officers and Top Earners. https://www.catalyst.org/wp-

content/uploads/2019/02/2000\_catalyst\_census\_women\_corporate\_officers.pdf

Catalyst. (2004). *The bottom line: Connecting corporate performance and gender diversity*. https://www.catalyst.org/wp-

content/uploads/2019/01/The\_Bottom\_Line\_Connecting\_Corporate\_Performance\_and\_Gend er\_Diversity.pdf

- Carbado, D. W., & Gulati, M. (2009). Race to the top of the corporate ladder: What minorities do when they get there. *Research in Law and Economics*, 237–270. https://doi.org/10.1108/s0193-5895(2009)0000024013
- Carter, D. A., Simkins, B. J., & Simpson, W. G. (2003). Corporate Governance, Board Diversity, and Firm Value. *The Financial Review*, 38(1), 33–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6288.00034
- Carter, S. M. (2006). The Interaction of Top Management Group, Stakeholder, and Situational Factors on Certain Corporate Reputation Management Activities\*. *Journal of Management Studies*, 43(5), 1145–1176. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2006.00632.x
- Celis, Karen, Kantola, Johanna, Waylen, Georgina, and Laurel Weldon, S.. 2013. "Introduction: Gender and Politics: A Gendered World, a Gendered Discipline." *In The Oxford Handbook of Gender and Politics*, eds. Waylen, Georgina, Celis, Karen, Kantola, Johanna, and Laurel Weldon, S.. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1–26.
- Chen, J., Leung, W. S., Song, W., & Goergen, M. (2019). Why female board representation matters: The role of female directors in reducing male CEO overconfidence. Journal of Empirical Finance, 53, 70–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jempfin.2019.06.002
- Chivakul, M., Igan, D., Chen, S., & Barrett, P. (2021). Pricing Protest: The Response of Financial Markets to Social Unrest. *IMF Working Papers*, 2021(079), 1. https://doi.org/10.5089/9781513572765.001
- Chung, C. C., & Beamish, P. W. (2005). Investment mode strategy and expatriate strategy during times of economic crisis. *Journal of International Management*, 11(3), 331–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2005.06.003
- Coles, J., Daniel, N., & Naveen, L. (2008). Boards: Does one size fit all?. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 87(2), 329–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2006.08.008
- Conyon, M. J., & Peck, S. I. (1998). Board size and corporate performance: evidence from European countries. *The European Journal of Finance*, 4(3), 291–304. https://doi.org/10.1080/135184798337317
- Croson, R., & Gneezy, U. (2009). Gender Differences in Preferences. Journal of Economic Literature, 47(2), 448–474. https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.47.2.448
- Cuthbertson, K. (1996). The Expectations Hypothesis of the Term Structure: The UK Interbank Market. *The Economic Journal*, 106(436), 578–592. https://doi.org/10.2307/2235564
- Delacre, M., Lakens, D., & Leys, C. (2017). Why Psychologists Should by Default Use Welch's t-test Instead of Student's t-test. *International Review of Social Psychology*, 30(1), 92. https://doi.org/10.5334/irsp.82

- Dolan, K., & Lynch, T. (2016). The Impact of Gender Stereotypes on Voting for Women Candidates by Level and Type of Office. *Politics & Gender*, 12(03), 573–595. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1743923x16000246
- Drobetz, W., von Meyerinck, F., Oesch, D., & Schmid, M. (2018). Industry expert directors. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 92, 195–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2018.04.019
- Duchin, R., Matsusaka, J. G., & Ozbas, O. (2010). When are outside directors effective?. Journal of Financial Economics, 96(2), 195–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2009.12.004
- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Agency Theory: An Assessment and Review. Academy of Management Review, 14(1), 57–74. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1989.4279003
- Epstein, M. J., & Schnietz, K. E. (2002). Measuring the cost of environment and labor protest to globalisation: An Event Study of the Failed 1999 Seattle WTO Talks. *The International Trade Journal*, 16(2), 129–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853900252901396
- Fama, E. F. (1963). Mandelbrot and the Stable Paretian Hypothesis. *The Journal of Business*, 36(4), 420. https://doi.org/10.1086/294633
- Fama, E. F. (1965). The Behavior of Stock-Market Prices. *The Journal of Business*, 38(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.1086/294743
- Fama, E. F. (1980). Agency Problems and the Theory of the Firm. *Journal of Political Economy*, 88(2), 288–307. https://doi.org/10.1086/260866
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (1993). Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 33(1), 3–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405x(93)90023-5
- Fama, E. F., & Jensen, M. C. (1983). Separation of Ownership and Control. *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 26(2), 301–325. https://doi.org/10.1086/467037
- Farrell, K. A., & Hersch, P. L. (2005). Additions to corporate boards: the effect of gender. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 11(1–2), 85–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2003.12.001
- Ferris, S. P., Jagannathan, M., & Pritchard, A. C. (2003). Too Busy to Mind the Business? Monitoring by Directors with Multiple Board Appointments. *The Journal of Finance*, 58(3), 1087–1111. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6261.00559
- Fortune. (2021, June 2). The female CEOs on this year's Fortune 500 just broke three all-time records. Retrieved 24 February 2022, from https://fortune.com/2021/06/02/female-ceos-fortune-500-2021-women-ceo-list-roz-brewer-walgreens-karen-lynch-cvs-thasunda-brown-duckett-tiaa/
- Fich, E. M., & Shivdasani, A. (2012). Are Busy Boards Effective Monitors? Corporate Governance, 221–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-31579-4\_10
- Franceschet, Susan, Piscopo, Jennifer M., and Thomas, Gwynn. 2017. "Motherhood and Politics in Latin America: Continuity and Change." In Mothers and Others: The Role of Parenthood in Politics, eds. Thomas, Melanee and Bittner, Amanda. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 64–86

- Garikipati, S., & Kambhampati, U. (2020). Leading the Fight Against the Pandemic: Does Gender 'Really' Matter? *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3617953
- Gompers, P., Ishii, J., & Metrick, A. (2003). Corporate Governance and Equity Prices. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 118(1), 107–156. https://doi.org/10.1162/00335530360535162
- Guest, P. M. (2009). The impact of board size on firm performance: evidence from the UK. *The European Journal of Finance*, 15(4), 385–404. https://doi.org/10.1080/13518470802466121
- Gul, F. A., Srinidhi, B., & Ng, A. C. (2011). Does board gender diversity improve the informativeness of stock prices? *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 51(3), 314–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2011.01.005
- Gygli, S., Haelg, F., Potrafke, N., & Sturm, J. E. (2019). The KOF Globalisation Index revisited. *The Review of International Organizations*, 14(3), 543–574. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11558-019-09344-2
- Hadzi-Vaskov, M., Pienknagura, S., & Antonio Ricci, L. (2021). The Macroeconomic Impact of Social Unrest. *IMF Working Papers*, 2021(135), 1. https://doi.org/10.5089/9781513582573.001
- Harford, J., Humphery-Jenner, M., & Powell, R. (2012). The sources of value destruction in acquisitions by entrenched managers. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 106(2), 247–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2012.05.016
- Harris, M., & Raviv, A. (2006). A Theory of Board Control and Size. *Review of Financial Studies*, 21(4), 1797–1832. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhl030
- Hauser, R. (2018). Busy directors and firm performance: Evidence from mergers. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 128(1), 16–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2018.01.009
- Haunschild, P. R., & Beckman, C. M. (1998). When Do Interlocks Matter?: Alternate Sources of Information and Interlock Influence. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 43(4), 815. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393617
- Hermalin, B. E., & Weisbach, M. S. (1988). The Determinants of Board Composition. *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 19(4), 589. https://doi.org/10.2307/2555459
- Hermalin, B. E., & Weisbach, M. S. (1991). The Effects of Board Composition and Direct Incentives on Firm Performance. *Financial Management*, 20(4), 101. https://doi.org/10.2307/3665716
- Heugens, P. P. M. A. R., van Riel, C. B. M., & van den Bosch, F. A. J. (2004). Reputation Management Capabilities as Decision Rules. *Journal of Management Studies*, 41(8), 1349–1377. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2004.00478.x
- Hill, C. W. L., & Jones, T. M. (1992). Stakeholder-Agency Theory. *Journal of Management Studies*, 29(2), 131–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.1992.tb00657.x
- Hillman, A. J., & Dalziel, T. (2003). Boards of Directors and Firm Performance: Integrating Agency and Resource Dependence Perspectives. *Academy of Management Review*, 28(3), 383–396. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2003.10196729

- International Labour Organization (ILO). (2019, March). A quantum leap for gender equality: For a better future of work for all (9789221329985[ISBN]). https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms\_674831.pdf
- Jensen, M. C. (1986). Agency Costs of Free Cash Flow, Corporate Finance, and Takeovers. *The American Economic Review*, 76(2), 323–329. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1818789
- Jensen, M. C. (1993). The Modern Industrial Revolution, Exit, and the Failure of Internal Control Systems. *The Journal of Finance*, 48(3), 831–880. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1993.tb04022.x
- Jiraporn, P., Kim, Y. S., & Davidson, W. N. (2008). Multiple directorships and corporate diversification. *Journal of Empirical Finance*, 15(3), 418–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jempfin.2007.07.002
- Johnson, C., & Williams, B. (2020). Gender and Political Leadership in a Time of COVID. *Politics & Gender*, 16(4), 943–950. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1743923x2000029x
- Kenneth R. French Data Library. (2022a, January). Current Research Returns. Retrieved January 2022, from https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/data\_library.html
- Kenneth R. French Data Library. (2022b, March). Current Research Returns. Retrieved March 2022, from https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/data\_library.html
- Klein, A. (1998). Firm Performance and Board Committee Structure. *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 41(1), 275–304. https://doi.org/10.1086/467391
- Kini, O., Kracaw, W., & Mian, S. (1995). Corporate takeovers, firm performance, and board composition. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 1(3–4), 383–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/0929-1199(94)00011-i
- Kramer, V., Konrad, A .& Erkut, S. (2006). Critical mass on corporate boards: Why three or more women enhance governance. *Wellesley Centers for Women*, Wellesley College.
- Kraus, A., & Litzenberger, R. H. (1973). A State-Preference Model of Optimal Financial Leverage. The Journal of Finance, 28(4), 911–922. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1973.tb01415.x
- Kyriazopoulos, G. (2017). Corporate governance and capital structure in the periods of financial distress. Evidence from Greece. *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*, 14(1), 254–262. https://doi.org/10.21511/imfi.14(1–1).2017.12
- Lee, T. S., & Yeh, Y. H. (2004). Corporate Governance and Financial Distress: evidence from Taiwan. *Corporate Governance*, 12(3), 378–388. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8683.2004.00379.x
- Levi, M., Li, K., & Zhang, F. (2014). Director gender and mergers and acquisitions. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 28, 185–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2013.11.005
- Lim, K. P., Brooks, R. D., & Kim, J. H. (2008). Financialdate crisis and stock market efficiency: Empirical evidence from Asian countries. International Review of Financial Analysis, 17(3), 571–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2007.03.001

- Lins, K. V., Servaes, H., & Tamayo, A. (2017). Social Capital, Trust, and Firm Performance: The Value of Corporate Social Responsibility during the Financial Crisis. *The Journal of Finance*, 72(4), 1785–1824. https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi.12505
- Lipton, M., & Lorsch, J. W. (1992). A Modest Proposal for Improved Corporate Governance. *The Business Lawyer*, 48(1), 59–77. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40687360
- Liu, Y., Wei, Z., & Xie, F. (2014). Do women directors improve firm performance in China? *Journal* of Corporate Finance, 28, 169–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2013.11.016
- Lo, A. W., & MacKinlay, A. C. (1999). A Non-Random Walk Down Wall Street. *Princeton University Press.*
- Malmendier, U., & Tate, G. (2005). CEO Overconfidence and Corporate Investment. *The Journal of Finance*, 60(6), 2661–2700. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2005.00813.x
- Malmendier, U., & Tate, G. (2008). Who makes acquisitions? CEO overconfidence and the market's reaction. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 89(1), 20–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2007.07.002
- Matsa, D. A., & Miller, A. R. (2013). A Female Style in Corporate Leadership? Evidence from Quotas.
  American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 5(3), 136–169. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.5.3.136
- McKinsey & Company. (2021). Women in the Workplace 2021. LeanIn.Org and McKinsey. https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/diversity-and-inclusion/women-in-theworkplace
- Moeller, S. B., Schlingemann, F. P., & Stulz, R. M. (2005). Wealth Destruction on a Massive Scale? A Study of Acquiring-Firm Returns in the Recent Merger Wave. *The Journal of Finance*, 60(2), 757–782. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2005.00745.x
- Muller-Kahle, M. I., & Lewellyn, K. B. (2011). Did Board Configuration Matter? The Case of US Subprime Lenders. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 19(5), 405–417. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8683.2011.00871.x
- National Bureau of Economic Research. (2020, June 8). *Business Cycle Dating Committee Announcement June* 8, 2020. NBER. Retrieved 29 April 2022, from https://www.nber.org/news/business-cycle-dating-committee-announcement-june-8-2020
- Nozawa, Y., & Qiu, Y. (2021). Corporate bond market reactions to quantitative easing during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 133, 106153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2021.106153
- Samuelson, P. (1965) Proof That Properly Anticipated Prices Fluctuate Randomly. *Industrial Management Review Spring*, 6, 41-49.
- Schmid, T., & Urban, D. (in press). Female Directors and Firm Value: New Evidence from Directors' Deaths. *SSRN Electronic Journal*.
- Student. (1908). The Probable Error of a Mean. Biometrika, 6(1), 1. doi:10.2307/2331554

- Subrahmanyam, V., Rangan, N., & Rosenstein, S. (1997). The Role of outside Directors in Bank Acquisitions. *Financial Management*, 26(3), 23. https://doi.org/10.2307/3666211
- Schwartz-Ziv, M. (2017). Gender and Board Activeness: The Role of a Critical Mass. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 52(2), 751–780. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022109017000059
- Welch, B. L. (1947). The Generalization of `Student's' Problem when Several Different Population Variances are Involved. *Biometrika*, 34(1/2), 28. doi:10.2307/2332510
- Pagano, M., Panetta, F., & Zingales, L. (1998). Why Do Companies Go Public? An Empirical Analysis. *The Journal of Finance*, 53(1), 27–64. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.25448
- Research: When Women Are on Boards, Male CEOs Are Less Overconfident. (2021, September 17). Harvard Business Review. Retrieved 22 January 2022, from https://hbr.org/2019/09/researchwhen-women-are-on-boards-male-ceos-are-less-overconfident
- Research: Women Are Better Leaders During a Crisis. (2020, December 30). Harvard Business Review. Retrieved 31 March 2022, from https://hbr.org/2020/12/research-women-are-better-leadersduring-a-crisis
- Rindova, V. P. (1999). What Corporate Boards have to do with Strategy: A Cognitive Perspective. *Journal of Management Studies*, 36(7), 953–975. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6486.00165
- Ryan, M. K., Haslam, S. A., Morgenroth, T., Rink, F., Stoker, J., & Peters, K. (2016). Getting on top of the glass cliff: Reviewing a decade of evidence, explanations, and impact. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(3), 446–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.10.008
- Thomas, G., & Adams, M. (2010). Breaking the Final Glass Ceiling: The Influence of Gender in the Elections of Ellen Johnson-Sirleaf and Michelle Bachelet. *Journal of Women, Politics & Policy*, 31(2), 105–131. https://doi.org/10.1080/15544771003697270
- Unemployment rate rises to record high 14.7 percent in April 2020 : The Economics Daily: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020, May 13). U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Retrieved 29 April 2022, from https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2020/unemployment-rate-rises-to-record-high-14-point-7-percent-in-april-

2020.htm#:%7E:text=Unemployment%20rate%20rises%20to%20record%20high%2014.7%2 0percent%20in%20April%202020,-

May%2013%2C%202020&text=The%20unemployment%20rate%20in%20April,available%20back%20to%20January%201948).

- Williamson, O. E. (1983). Organization Form, Residual Claimants, and Corporate Control. *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 26(2), 351–366. https://doi.org/10.1086/467039
- Williamson, O. (1984). Corporate Governance. *The Yale Law Journal*, 93(7), 1197. https://doi.org/10.2307/796256
- Women CEOs in Fortune 500 companies, 1995–2020. (2021, February 25). Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project. Retrieved 14 March 2022, from

https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/chart/women-ceos-in-fortune-500-companies-1995-2014/

Women on Boards: 2020 Progress Report. (2020, November 30). *MSCI*. https://www.msci.com/www/women-on-boards-2020/women-on-boards-2020progress/02212172407

Women on Corporate Boards: Quick Take. (2021). Catalyst.

World Economic Forum. (2021, November 23). Why female leadership is crucial to tackle climate change. Retrieved 31 March 2022, from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/11/why-female-leadership-is-crucial-to-tackle-climate-change/

# Appendix

## Appendix A

Table A: Variable List		
Variables	Description	Source
Main Ind. Variables		
FemaleRatio	Percentage of female directors relative to total board size,	ISS Directors
Min3FDs	per quarter Dummy variable, which equals 1 if the board holds at least three female directors and 0 otherwise	ISS Directors
FemaleCEO	Dummy variable, which equals 1 if the CEO of the firm is female, and 0 otherwise	ISS Directors
<b>Events Abbreviations</b>		
HED	Health Emergency Date – 30 January 2020	CRSP
PMD	Peak Market Date – 19 February 2020	CRSP
PSD	Pandemic Start Date – 11 March 2020	CRSP
PUD	Peak Unemployment Date – 11 May 2020	CRSP
RSD	Recession Start Date – 8 June 2020	CRSP
JBD	Joe Biden Date – 7 November 2020	CRSP
Firm Variables		
LnSales	Natural Logarithm of sales per quarter	Compustat
LnSalesYearly	Natural Logarithm of sales per vear	Compustat
ROA	Return on Assets. Calculated as net income over total	Compustat
ROA_Year	Return on Assets. Calculated as net income over total	Compustat
ROE	assets per year Return on Equity. Calculated as net income over	Compustat
ROE_Year	shareholder's equity per quarter Return on Equity. Calculated as net income over	Compustat
Market Capitalisation	Number of shares outstanding times share price end of the	Compustat
TobinsQ	quarter Tobin's Q, measured by market capitalisation divided by total assets	Compustat
Leverage	Long-term debt divided by total assets	Compustat
Board Variables		
Age	Average age per director. Calculated as the mean age of	ISS Directors
Tenure	Average tenure per director. Calculated as the mean tenure	ISS Directors
Board Size	Total number of directors on a firm's board per quarter	ISS Directors
BoardIndependenceRatio	Percentage of independent directors relative to total directors	ISS Directors
CommitteeMemberRatio	Percentage of directors who are committee members	ISS Directors
AttendanceProblem	Average per board of a dummy variable which equals 1 if a director has been less than 75% of board meetings in the	ISS Directors
	previous year, and 0 otherwise	100 D'
FemaleDirectors	Number of temale directors on the board	188 Directors
OnlyOneFemale	Dummy variable which equals 1 if the firm has one female	ISS Directors
FemaleInBoard	director on board, and 0 otherwise Dummy variable which equals 1 if the firm has at least one	ISS Directors
	female director and 0 otherwise	
	The average number of other board seats per director, per	ISS Directors

OtherBoardsPerDirector OBSbyMaleDirector	board The average number of other board seats per male	ISS Directors
OBSbyFemaleDirector	The average number of other board seats per female director, per board	ISS Directors
Compensation Variables		
Total Compensation	Average total compensation per director, including cash and equity-based rewards	ExecuComp
Cash Compensation	Average cash compensation per director, including only cash-based rewards	ExecuComp
Non-Cash Compensation	Average equity-based compensation per director, excluding cash-based rewards	ExecuComp
Non-Cash Comp. Ratio	Percentage of non-cash compensation relative to total compensation	ExecuComp
Other variables		
Strike price	The exercise price of an option at which a CEO can buy shares	ExecuComp
Stock Price	The stock price of a US firm on a specified date	CRSP / ExecuComp
Overconfident	Dummy variable, which equals 1 if a CEO holds on average more than 67% in-the-money options	ExecuComp
Moneyness	The ratio of the realisable gain relative to the current stock price. In-the-money(ness) of an option	ExecuComp
OI	Dummy variable, which equals 1 if a CEO at an FF12 industry is on average more than 657% in-the-money	ExecuComp
CtC	Close to Consumer dummy variable, which equals 1 if the industry is one of the four industries mentioned in the paper of Brammer et al. (2007), and 0 otherwise	Compustat
FF12	Fama-French 12 industry classification (see Table 10)	Kenneth French website
AAR	Accumulated Abnormal Returns, calculated as the sum of abnormal returns of a specified window per firm or group of firms	CRSP / ExecuCom

## **Appendix B**

#### Table 4B: Extended cumulative abnormal return regression results

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR in Panel A and B is accumulated in the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows, respectively. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

Panel A:	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5 Event 6		
CAR [-1d,+1d]	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD	
FemaleRatio	016	.006	058*	031*	006	.005	
	(.011)	(.013)	(.026)	(.014)	(.013)	(.026)	
Leverage	.016	.003	039	.004	007	023***	
	(.009)	(.006)	(.027)	(.007)	(.01)	(.006)	
ROA	046	.069**	.094	118	207*	373***	
	(.038)	(.029)	(.136)	(.141)	(.1)	(.083)	
LnSales	001	.001	003	.004*	001	0	
	(.001)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)	
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0	
	(.001)	(.001)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	
Age	0	0	0	0	0	.001	
	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)	
Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	0	
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	001	.018***	004	.005	003	
	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)	
BoardIndepRatio	.007	005	015	003	015	.01	
	(.01)	(.012)	(.029)	(.016)	(.015)	(.019)	
Constant	.014	072**	081	038	012	042*	
	(.017)	(.022)	(.061)	(.04)	(.011)	(.022)	
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035	
R-squared	.043	.053	.091	.123	.061	.068	
Min3FDs	005*	001	014	005	002	.005	
	(.002)	(.003)	(.009)	(.004)	(.002)	(.005)	
Leverage	.016	.003	039	.004	007	023***	
	(.009)	(.006)	(.028)	(.007)	(.01)	(.006)	
ROA	049	.067*	.086	121	208*	37***	
	(.039)	(.03)	(.139)	(.143)	(.1)	(.083)	
LnSales	001	.002	002	.004*	0	0	
	(.001)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.002)	(.001)	
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0	
	(.001)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	
Age	0	0	0	0	0	.001*	
_	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)	
Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	0	
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	0	.018***	004	.006	003	
	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)	
BoardIndepRatio	.008	003	013	004	014	.006	
-	(.01)	(.014)	(.026)	(.015)	(.016)	(.018)	
Constant	.01	071**	101	048	014	04	
	(.015)	(.023)	(.055)	(.042)	(.012)	(.025)	
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035	
R-squared	.046	.053	.092	.122	.062	.071	

FemaleCEO	.002	.004	004	.004	.006**	.005*
	(.002)	(.003)	(.006)	(.005)	(.002)	(.003)
Leverage	.016*	.003	039	.004	007	023***
	(.009)	(.006)	(.027)	(.007)	(.01)	(.006)
ROA	043	.069**	.101	118	207*	374***
	(.038)	(.028)	(.132)	(.142)	(.098)	(.084)
LnSales	001	.001	003	.004	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.001)	(.002)
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	.001	0	0	.001
	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	.001
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	001	.017**	005	.005	003
	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)
BoardIndepRatio	.004	005	024	01	017	.009
	(.009)	(.012)	(.032)	(.017)	(.015)	(.017)
Constant	.011	07**	096	046	013	04
	(.015)	(.022)	(.059)	(.04)	(.013)	(.026)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.041	.054	.087	.12	.063	.07

#### Table 4B: Extended cumulative abnormal return regression results (continued)

\_

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR in Panel A and B is accumulated in the [-1d,+1d] and [-3d,+3d] windows, respectively. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

Panel B:	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
CAR [-3d,+3d]						
	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	024	.017	062	03	.008	0
	(.022)	(.019)	(.042)	(.023)	(.022)	(.029)
Leverage	.018	.001	128**	.044*	.029***	.007
	(.014)	(.01)	(.052)	(.022)	(.005)	(.011)
ROA	.019	.265***	.165	031	128**	314***
	(.074)	(.071)	(.147)	(.153)	(.054)	(.077)
LnSales	.001	.001	005	.002	002	001
	(.002)	(.001)	(.007)	(.004)	(.003)	(.001)
TobinsQ	.001	.002*	001	.002	0	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001**	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	001	001	0	001**
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.002	003	.021*	005	.002	0
	(.004)	(.004)	(.011)	(.008)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	.002	.017	.019	051	022	038*
	(.013)	(.024)	(.082)	(.035)	(.026)	(.02)
Constant	.017	108**	.184	.003	.048*	.026
	(.042)	(.046)	(.118)	(.045)	(.025)	(.033)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.015	.062	.101	.073	.069	.04

Min3FDs	004	.002	023	003	001	003
	(.003)	(.004)	(.014)	(.005)	(.004)	(.005)
Leverage	.018	.001	128**	.044*	.029***	.007
	(.014)	(.01)	(.052)	(.022)	(.005)	(.011)
ROA	.017	.265***	.147	033	128**	316***
	(.074)	(.071)	(.156)	(.156)	(.054)	(.066)
LnSales	.001	.001	003	.002	002	0
	(.001)	(.002)	(.007)	(.004)	(.003)	(.001)
TobinsQ	.001	.002*	0	.002	0	0
-	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001**	001	0
C	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	001	001	Ő	001*
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.002	003	.022*	006	.003	Ő
	(.003)	(.004)	(.011)	(.009)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	.001	.018	.029	054	02	035
I	(.013)	(.025)	(.076)	(.034)	(.026)	(.02)
Constant	.011	103*	.159	006	.049	.026
	(.037)	(.046)	(.108)	(.046)	(.031)	(.03)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.015	.061	.104	.072	.069	.041
•						
FemaleCEO	.006*	.009**	02*	001	.005**	.007
FemaleCEO	.006* (.003)	.009** (.004)	02* (.009)	001 (.01)	.005** (.002)	.007 (.006)
<b>FemaleCEO</b> Leverage	.006* (.003) .018	.009** (.004) .002	02* (.009) 129**	001 (.01) .044*	.005** (.002) .029***	.007 (.006) .007
FemaleCEO Leverage	.006* (.003) .018 (.014)	.009** (.004) .002 (.01)	02* (.009) 129** (.051)	001 (.01) .044* (.022)	.005** (.002) .029*** (.005)	.007 (.006) .007 (.011)
<b>FemaleCEO</b> Leverage ROA	.006* (.003) .018 (.014) .025	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267***	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031	.005** (.002) .029*** (.005) 128**	.007 (.006) .007 (.011) 317***
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA	.006* (.003) .018 (.014) .025 (.072)	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072)	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149)	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031 (.156)	.005** (.002) .029*** (.005) 128** (.054)	.007 (.006) .007 (.011) 317*** (.076)
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales	.006* (.003) .018 (.014) .025 (.072) .001	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031 (.156) .002	.005** (.002) .029*** (.005) 128** (.054) 002	.007 (.006) .007 (.011) 317*** (.076) 001
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales	.006* (.003) .018 (.014) .025 (.072) .001 (.002)	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001)	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008)	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031 (.156) .002 (.004)	.005** (.002) .029*** (.005) 128** (.054) 002 (.002)	.007 (.006) .007 (.011) 317*** (.076) 001 (.001)
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales TobinsQ	.006* (.003) .018 (.014) .025 (.072) .001 (.002) 0	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002*	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031 (.156) .002 (.004) .002	.005** (.002) .029*** (.005) 128** (.054) 002 (.002) 0	.007 (.006) .007 (.011) 317*** (.076) 001 (.001) 0
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales TobinsQ	.006* (.003) .018 (.014) .025 (.072) .001 (.002) 0 (.001)	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001)	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004)	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031 (.156) .002 (.004) .002 (.002)	.005** (.002) .029*** (.005) 128** (.054) 002 (.002) 0 (.001)	.007 (.006) .007 (.011) 317*** (.076) 001 (.001) 0 (.001)
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales TobinsQ Age	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) 0	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031 (.156) .002 (.004) .002 (.002) 001*	.005** (.002) .029*** (.005) 128** (.054) 002 (.002) 0 (.001) 001	.007 (.006) .007 (.011) 317*** (.076) 001 (.001) 0 (.001) 0
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales TobinsQ Age	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) 0 (.001)	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001)	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031 (.156) .002 (.004) .002 (.002) 001* (0)	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317^{***}\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.0$
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales TobinsQ Age Tenure	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) 0 (.001) 001	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001	001 (.01) .044* (.022) 031 (.156) .002 (.004) .002 (.002) 001* (0) 001	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ \end{array}$	.007 (.006) .007 (.011) 317*** (.076) 001 (.001) 0 (.001) 0 (.001) 0 (.001)
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales TobinsQ Age Tenure	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (0) \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) .001 (.001) 001 (.001)	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001 (.003)	$\begin{array}{c}001\\ (.01)\\ .044^{*}\\ (.022)\\031\\ (.156)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.002)\\001^{*}\\ (0)\\001\\ (.001)\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317^{***}\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.0$
FemaleCEO Leverage ROA LnSales TobinsQ Age Tenure OtherBoardsP. Dir	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.002) \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) .001 (.001) 001 (.001) 003	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001 (.003) .021*	$\begin{array}{c}001\\ (.01)\\ .044^{*}\\ (.022)\\031\\ (.156)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.002)\\001^{*}\\ (0)\\001\\ (.001)\\006\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ .002 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317^{***}\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\001*\\ (0)\\001\end{array}$
FemaleCEOLeverageROALnSalesTobinsQAgeTenureOtherBoardsP. Dir	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.002) \\ (.002) \\ (.003) \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) .001 (.001) 001 (.001) 003 (.004)	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001 (.003) .021* (.01)	$\begin{array}{c}001\\ (.01)\\ .044*\\ (.022)\\031\\ (.156)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.002)\\001*\\ (0)\\001\\ (.001)\\006\\ (.009)\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ .002\\ (.006)\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317^{***}\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ .001^{*}\\ (0)\\001\\ (.005)\end{array}$
FemaleCEOLeverageROALnSalesTobinsQAgeTenureOtherBoardsP. DirBoardIndepRatio	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.002) \\ (.003) \\004 \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) .001 (.001) 003 (.004) .018	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001 (.003) .021* (.01) .013	$\begin{array}{c}001\\ (.01)\\ .044*\\ (.022)\\031\\ (.156)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.002)\\001*\\ (0)\\001\\ (.001)\\006\\ (.009)\\056\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ .002\\ (.006)\\021\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317^{***}\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ .001^{*}\\ (0)\\001\\ (.005)\\039^{*} \end{array}$
FemaleCEOLeverageROALnSalesTobinsQAgeTenureOtherBoardsP. DirBoardIndepRatio	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.003) \\004 \\ (.012) \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) .001 (.001) 003 (.004) .018 (.022)	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001 (.003) .021* (.01) .013 (.081)	$\begin{array}{c}001\\ (.01)\\ .044*\\ (.022)\\031\\ (.156)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.002)\\001*\\ (.001)\\001\\ (.001)\\006\\ (.009)\\056\\ (.036)\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ .002\\ (.006)\\021\\ (.025)\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317^{****}\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\001^{*}\\ (.0)\\001\\ (.005)\\039^{*}\\ (.019)\end{array}$
FemaleCEOLeverageROALnSalesTobinsQAgeTenureOtherBoardsP. DirBoardIndepRatioConstant	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.002) \\ (.003) \\004 \\ (.012) \\ .012 \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) 001 (.001) 003 (.004) .018 (.022) 103*	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001 (.003) .021* (.01) .013 (.081) .168	$\begin{array}{c}001\\ (.01)\\ .044*\\ (.022)\\031\\ (.156)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.002)\\001*\\ (.001)\\001\\ (.001)\\006\\ (.009)\\056\\ (.036)\\005\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ .002\\ (.006)\\021\\ (.025)\\ .05\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317^{***}\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ .001^{*}\\ (.0)\\001\\ (.005)\\039^{*}\\ (.019)\\ .027\end{array}$
FemaleCEOLeverageROALnSalesTobinsQAgeTenureOtherBoardsP. DirBoardIndepRatioConstant	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*} \\ (.003) \\ .018 \\ (.014) \\ .025 \\ (.072) \\ .001 \\ (.002) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.001) \\ 0 \\ (.003) \\004 \\ (.012) \\ .012 \\ (.038) \end{array}$	.009** (.004) .002 (.01) .267*** (.072) .001 (.001) .002* (.001) 001 (.001) 001 (.001) 003 (.004) .018 (.022) 103* (.046)	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001 (.003) .021* (.01) .013 (.081) .168 (.112)	$\begin{array}{c}001\\ (.01)\\ .044*\\ (.022)\\031\\ (.156)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.002)\\001*\\ (0)\\001\\ (.001)\\006\\ (.009)\\056\\ (.036)\\005\\ (.045)\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ .002\\ (.006)\\021\\ (.025)\\ .05\\ (.03)\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317***\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ .001*\\ (.0)\\001*\\ (.0)\\039*\\ (.019)\\ .027\\ (.03)\\ \end{array}$
FemaleCEOLeverageROALnSalesTobinsQAgeTenureOtherBoardsP. DirBoardIndepRatioConstantObservations	$\begin{array}{c} .006^{*}\\ (.003)\\ .018\\ (.014)\\ .025\\ (.072)\\ .001\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.003)\\004\\ (.012)\\ .012\\ (.038)\\ 1030\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .009^{**}\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.01)\\ .267^{***}\\ (.072)\\ .001\\ (.001)\\ .002^{*}\\ (.001)\\ .002^{*}\\ (.001)\\001\\ (.001)\\003\\ (.004)\\ .018\\ (.022)\\103^{*}\\ (.046)\\ 1020\\ \end{array}$	02* (.009) 129** (.051) .165 (.149) 005 (.008) 001 (.004) 0 (.001) 001 (.003) .021* (.01) .013 (.081) .168 (.112) 1020	$\begin{array}{c}001\\ (.01)\\ .044^{*}\\ (.022)\\031\\ (.156)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.004)\\ .002\\ (.002)\\001^{*}\\ (0)\\001\\ (.001)\\006\\ (.009)\\056\\ (.036)\\005\\ (.045)\\ 1024\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .005^{**}\\ (.002)\\ .029^{***}\\ (.005)\\128^{**}\\ (.054)\\002\\ (.002)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\001\\ (0)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ .002\\ (.006)\\021\\ (.025)\\ .05\\ (.03)\\ 1025 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} .007\\ (.006)\\ .007\\ (.011)\\317***\\ (.076)\\001\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\ (.001)\\ 0\\001*\\ (.0)\\001*\\ (.0)\\039*\\ (.019)\\ .027\\ (.03)\\ 1035\end{array}$

#### Table 7: Summary Statistics whole sample 2016-2020

All variable data are from 2016-2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. All variable definitions and sources are provided in Appendix, Table A. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level.

Panel A: 2020	Ν	Mean	SD	Min	Max
LnSalesYearly	5444	7.745	1.464	4.392	10.731
ROA Year	5444	.045	0.067	123	.16
ROE Year	5444	.1	0.234	561	.638
Leverage	5415	.272	0.180	0	.728
TobinsQ	5444	2.219	1.399	.826	6.936
FemaleRatio	5444	208	0.110	0	455
Min3FDs	5444	296	0.456	0	1
FemaleCEO	5444	>0	0.190	0	1
FemaleDirectors	5444	1 991	1 170	0	5
OnlyOneFemale	5444	.265	0.441	Ő	1
FemaleInBoard	5444	.913	0.281	0	1
BoardSize	5444	9.289	1.851	6	13
Age	5444	62.329	3.409	55	69.714
Tenure	5444	8.594	3.570	2.25	17.667
BoardIndependenceRatio	5444	.813	0.097	.556	.917
AttendanceProblem	5444	.004	0.019	0	.1
CommitteeMemberRatio	5444	.727	0.151	.3	.909
OtherBoardsPerDirector	5444	.789	0.431	0	1.75
OBSbyMaleDirector	5444	.751	0.446	0	1.75
OBSbyFemaleDirector	5444	.853	0.791	0	3
Total Compensation	5309	233.886	75.584	86.059	434.884
Cash Compensation	5309	88.472	31.109	22.5	163.833
Non-Cash Compensation	5309	144.662	67.082	22.672	346.878
Non-Cash Comp. Ratio	5303	.585	0.134	.19	.875

Figure 2a: Average Abnormal Return [-20d,+20d] - HealthEmergencyDate (Min3FDs, FemaleCEO)



Figure 2b: Average Abnormal Return [-20d,+20d] – PandemicStartDate (Min3FDs, FemaleCEO)



Figure 2c: Average Abnormal Return [-20d,+20d] – PeakMarketDate (Min3FDs, FemaleCEO)





Figure 2d: Average Abnormal Return [-20d,+20d] – PeakUnemploymentDate (Min3FDs, FemaleCEO)

Figure 2e: Average Abnormal Return [-20d,+20d] - RecessionStartDate (Min3FDs, FemaleCEO)



Figure 2f: Average Abnormal Return [-20d,+20d] – JoeBidenDate (Min3FDs, FemaleCEO)



Pairwise correlations betwe	en variable	es included	in the reg	ression mo	odel. Signi	ficance lev	rel per coe	tficient in j	parenthese	es. Contini	10us varial	oles are wi	nsorised a	t the 5% lev	vel.
Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)
(1) FemaleRatio	1.000														
(2) Min3FDs	0.722	1.000													
	(0.000)														
(3) FemaleCEO	0.295	0.249	1.000												
	(0.000)	(0.000)													
(4) Leverage	0.120	0.105	0.020	1.000											
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.003)												
(5) ROA	0.050	0.039	0.024	-0.132	1.000										
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)											
(6) LnSales	0.289	0.358	0.141	0.208	0.160	1.000									
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)										
(7) TobinsQ	0.042	0.030	-0.004	-0.138	0.457	-0.097	1.000								
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.539)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)									
(8) Age	-0.168	-0.101	-0.027	-0.079	-0.003	0.013	-0.126	1.000							
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.624)	(0.062)	(0.000)								
(9) Tenure	-0.219	-0.139	-0.088	-0.214	0.101	-0.091	0.075	0.487	1.000						
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)							
(10) OBSperDirector	0.207	0.193	0.117	0.159	-0.034	0.393	-0.036	-0.048	-0.270	1.000					
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)						
(11) BoardIndepRatio	0.256	0.193	0.102	0.136	-0.029	0.179	-0.076	-0.065	-0.350	0.290	1.000				
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)					
(12) BoardSize	0.253	0.430	0.106	0.198	0.027	0.580	-0.078	0.032	-0.056	0.276	0.180	1.000			
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	0.005	1 000		
(13) AttendanceProblem	-0.020	0.018	-0.002	-0.034	0.011	-0.013	0.003	0.011	0.019	-0.016	-0.039	0.025	1.000		
	(0.003)	(0.006)	(0.729)	(0.000)	(0.101)	(0.057)	(0.665)	(0.107)	(0.004)	(0.019)	(0.000)	(0.000)	0.004	1 000	
(14) FemaleDirectors	0.929	0.809	0.305	0.159	0.054	0.439	0.019	-0.136	-0.199	0.263	0.270	0.544	-0.006	1.000	
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.005)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.354)	0.504	1 000
(15) FemaleInBoard	0.583	0.199	0.102	0.113	0.037	0.258	-0.013	-0.086	-0.1/5	0.1/1	0.201	0.313	-0.026	0.524	1.000
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.049)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	

#### Table 8: Correlation matrix

Pairwise correlations between variables included in the regression model. Significance level per coefficient in parentheses. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level.

#### Table 9: Extended cumulative abnormal return regression results in extended period

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR is accumulated in the [-1d,+5d] window. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

CAR [-1d,+5d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	009	017	074	016	042***	.022
	(.015)	(.028)	(.072)	(.013)	(.006)	(.03)
Leverage	.016*	022	192**	.013	.02	029***
0	(.007)	(.017)	(.059)	(.018)	(.011)	(.003)
ROA	038	.256**	.296	029	04	376***
	(.064)	(.097)	(.306)	(.104)	(.111)	(.106)
LnSales	.001	0	01	.007***	.004*	.003*
	(.001)	(.002)	(.01)	(.002)	(.002)	(.001)
TobinsO	0	.001	.01*	.001	.006***	001
× ×	(.001)	(.003)	(.005)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	.002***	0	0	.001
0-	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)
Tenure	0	0	001	001	001**	0
	(0)	(.001)	(.002)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	.002	.019	008	004	.003
0.0000000000000000000000000000000000000	(.004)	(.006)	(.017)	(.006)	(.006)	(.008)
BoardIndepRatio	.009	.035	.023	014	014	017
- • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	(.011)	(.034)	(.068)	(.026)	(.025)	(.029)
Constant	.017	079*	.144	087**	023	004
Gonotant	(.031)	(.04)	(107)	(.036)	(.024)	(.045)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	021	07	11	092	119	047
it squared	.021	.07		.072	.119	.017
Min3FDs	0	- 01	- 013	- 002	- 01***	004
	(003)	(006)	(014)	(005)	(003)	(006)
Leverage	016*	- 022	- 192**	013	02*	- 03***
Levelage	(007)	(017)	(059)	(018)	(011)	(004)
ROA	- 037	248**	291	- 03	- 046	- 368***
ROM	(064)	(101)	(313)	(106)	(114)	(101)
LoSales	001	001	009	007***	(.114)	002**
LIIGaics	(001)	(002)	(01)	(002)	.004	.002
TobinsO	(.001)	002	01*	001	006***	- 001
1001132	(001)	(003)	(005)	(002)	.000	(001)
Age	(.001)	(.005)	002***	(.002)	(.001)	001
nge	(001)	(001)	.002	(001)	(0)	(001)
Tenure	(.001)	(.001)	- 001	- 001	- 001**	(.001)
Tenure	(0)	(001)	(002)	(001)	.001	(001)
OtherBoards P Dir	003	003	(.002)	008	004	(.001)
OtherBoardsi .Dii	(004)	(006)	(017)	(006)	(006)	.003
BoardIndon Ratio	(.004)	041	(.017)	(.000)	(.000)	(.000)
Doardinuep. Ratio	.007	(034)	.021	015	015	010
Constant	(.011)	(.034)	(.00)	(.023)	(.020)	(.028)
Constant	.013	007	(103)	(029)	037	(047)
Observations	(.020)	(.043)	(.103)	(.036)	(.024)	(.047)
Deservations Programmed	1030	074	1020	1024	1025	1035
K-squared	.02	.074	.109	.091	.122	.040
Earnala CEO	007***	002	010	001	001	01*
remaieCEU	.000***	003	019	.001	.001	.U1*
т	(.001)	(.006)	(.012)	(.006)	(.004)	(.004)
Leverage	.016*	023	193**	.013	.02	029***

	(.007)	(.017)	(.059)	(.018)	(.011)	(.004)
ROA	034	.257**	.299	029	04	374***
	(.063)	(.094)	(.302)	(.105)	(.118)	(.104)
LnSales	.001	0	01	.007***	.003*	.003*
	(.001)	(.002)	(.011)	(.001)	(.002)	(.001)
TobinsQ	0	.001	.01*	.001	.006***	001
	(.001)	(.003)	(.005)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	.002***	0	0	.001
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)
Tenure	0	0	001	0	001**	0
	(0)	(.001)	(.002)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP.Dir	.003	.002	.019	008	005	.003
	(.004)	(.006)	(.016)	(.006)	(.006)	(.008)
BoardIndep. Ratio	.006	.033	.014	017	022	015
	(.01)	(.029)	(.064)	(.025)	(.026)	(.025)
Constant	.016	083*	.125	091**	034	.002
	(.028)	(.041)	(.105)	(.037)	(.025)	(.047)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.022	.07	.109	.091	.114	.048

### Table 10: Fama-French 12 industries

SIC Code	es per FF12 Ind	lustry	
Code		Industry	Industry description
1		Nondurable Consumer Goods	Consumer Nondurables - Food, Tobacco,
			Textiles, Apparel, Leather, Toys
	SIC codes:	0100-0999, 2000-2399, 2700-2749, 2770-279	9, 3100-3199, 3940-3989
2		Durable Consumer Goods	Consumer Durables Cars, TVs,
			Furniture, Household Appliances
	SIC codes:	0100-0999, 2000-2399, 2700-2749, 2770-279	9, 3100-3199, 3940-3989
3		Manufacturing	Machinery, Trucks, Planes, Off Furn,
			Paper, Com Printing
	SIC codes:	2520-2589, 2600-2699, 2750-2769, 3000-309	9, 3200-3569, 3580-3629, 3700-3709, 3712-
		3713, 3715-3715, 3717-3749, 3752-3791, 379	3-3799, 3830-3839, 3860-3899
4		Energy	Oil, Gas, and Coal Extraction and
			Products
	SIC codes:	1200-1399, 2900-2999	
5		Chemicals	Chemicals and Allied Products
	SIC codes:	2800-2829, 2840-2899	
6		Business Equipment	Business Equipment Computers,
			Software, and Electronic Equipment
	SIC codes:	3570-3579, 3660-3692, 3694-3699, 3810-382	9,7370-7379
7		Telecom	Telephone and Television Transmission
	SIC codes:	4800-4899	
8		Utilities	Utilities
	SIC codes:	4900-4949	
9		Shops	Wholesale, Retail, and Some Services
			(Laundries, Repair Shops)
	SIC codes:	5000-5999, 7200-7299, 7600-7699	
10		Healthcare	Healthcare, Medical Equipment, and
			Drugs
	SIC codes:	2830-2839, 3693-3693, 3840-3859, 8000-809	9
11		Money	Finance
	SIC codes:	6000-6999	
12		Other	Other Mines, Construction, Building
			Materials, Transport, Hotels,
			Entertainment
	SIC codes:	Remaining SIC codes	

#### Table 11: Summary statistics CEO Overconfidence (2016-2019)

Summary statistics on the CEO overconfidence per industry measured by 'Moneyness'. Panel A includes industry observations between 2016 and 2019. Moneyness is a variable which measures the level of in-the-moneyness of the option portfolio of the CEO. If the portfolio is more than 67% in the money, the CEO is considered as overconfident. Overconfident statistics and industries are bold. Panel B presents the mean moneyness per year. Panel C presents the average moneyness per gender. Variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A.

Industry	No. of obs.	Avg. Money	ness per CEO	Overconfident CEO %	
		Mean	Median	Mean	Median
Non-dur CG	148	.725	.528	.432	0
Durable CG	88	.356	.285	.239	0
Manufacturing	402	.467	.340	.269	0
Energy	160	059	321	.094	0
Chemicals	145	.405	.341	.276	0
Buss. Equip.	608	1.015	.663	.497	0
Telecom	71	.913	.433	.352	0
Utilities	62	.378	.136	.194	0
Shops	329	.588	.270	.319	0
Healthcare	343	1.147	.634	.493	0
Money	651	.809	.534	.412	0
Other	432	.900	.583	.456	0
Total	3439	.751	.448	.386	0
Panel B: By Ye	ar				
Year	No. of obs.	Avg. Money	ness per CEO	Overconfid	lent CEO %
		Mean	Median	Mean	Median
2016	916	.791	.506	.405	0
2017	834	.847	.505	.429	0
2018	846	.627	.337	.313	0
2019	843	.739	.430	.394	0
Total	3439	.751	.448	.386	0
Panel C: By Ge	nder				
Gender		Avg. Money	ness per CEO	Overconfid	lent CEO %
	No. of obs.	Mean	Median	Mean	Median
Male CEO	3,257	.746	.446	.385	0
Female CEO	182	.842	.471	.390	0
Total	3430	751	118	386	0

#### Table 12: Full model OLS regressions – Overconfidence Extension [-1d,+1d]

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns including overconfidence proxies. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR is accumulated [-1d,+1d] window. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. OI is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a company is classified as overconfident (Overconfident Industries), based on statistics presented in Table 11, and 0 otherwise. These three variables are used to construct interaction variables named as 'variable' + XOI. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

CAR [-1d,+1d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	042**	.015	114	035	049	.005
	(.015)	(.025)	(.065)	(.021)	(.034)	(.033)
OI	02***	.003	028	015	027	0
	(.005)	(.008)	(.02)	(.013)	(.018)	(.006)
FemaleRatioXOI	.046**	015	.099	.008	.077	0
	(.015)	(.029)	(.067)	(.023)	(.045)	(.021)
Leverage	.016*	.002	038	.002	007	023***
	(.008)	(.006)	(.028)	(.006)	(.01)	(.006)
ROA	043	.069**	.096	113	208**	373***
	(.032)	(.029)	(.134)	(.129)	(.089)	(.081)
LnSales	001	.001	003	.004	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.002	.002*	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.003)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	0	0	.001
	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	0
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003*	001	.018***	005	.005	003
	(.001)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.008)
BoardIndepRatio	.004	006	014	012	017	.01
	(.01)	(.013)	(.025)	(.02)	(.018)	(.019)
Constant	.03	073**	069	03	.001	042
	(.018)	(.022)	(.059)	(.041)	(.013)	(.024)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.065	.054	.094	.137	.077	.068
Min2ED.	01**	001	02	008	000*	005
MINJFDS	01**	.001	05	008	009*	.005
OI	(.004)	(.003)	(.02)	(.007)	(.003)	(.000)
01	012	(004)	015	013	013	(005)
Min3ED VOI	(.003)	(.004)	(.013)	(.012)	(.011)	(.003)
WIIIDI DSAOI	(005)	005	(022)	.004	.015	(004)
Leverage	(.003)	(.003)	038	(.008)	(.007)	(.004)
Levelage	(008)	(006)	(027)	(006)	(01)	025
ROA	- 046	068*	088	- 115	- 204**	- 37***
Rom	(035)	(03)	(138)	(129)	(087)	(082)
LnSales	- 001	002	- 002	004	(.007)	0
Linoules	(001)	(001)	(005)	(002)	(001)	(001)
TobinsO	001	0	004	002	002*	0
10011132	(001)	(001)	(003)	(002)	(001)	(001)
Age	0	0	0	0	0	.001*
80	Ő	Ő	(.001)	Ő	(III)	(0)
Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	0
1 011010	Ő	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003**	001	.019***	004	.006	003
2 and 2 out doi 1 1511	(.001)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.008)
BoardIndepRatio	.004	004	013	012	017	.006

	(.01)	(.014)	(.022)	(.019)	(.018)	(.019)
Constant	.02	07**	099*	04	009	04
	(.016)	(.023)	(.051)	(.044)	(.01)	(.029)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.068	.054	.099	.136	.075	.071
FemaleCEO	002	001	.004	.007*	001	.004
	(.004)	(.003)	(.008)	(.003)	(.004)	(.005)
OI	009**	002	001	012	009	0
	(.003)	(.002)	(.018)	(.01)	(.008)	(.007)
FemaleCEOsXOI	.006	.01**	017	006	.015**	.003
	(.005)	(.004)	(.01)	(.008)	(.006)	(.008)
Leverage	.016*	.003	04	.002	007	023***
-	(.008)	(.006)	(.028)	(.007)	(.01)	(.006)
ROA	043	.067**	.106	112	206*	372***
	(.032)	(.026)	(.127)	(.13)	(.089)	(.083)
LnSales	001	.001	003	.003	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.002	.002*	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.003)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	.001	0	0	.001
0	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	Ő	0	001	001***	001	.001
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	001	.017**	005	.005	003
	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)
BoardIndepRatio	001	005	025	018	022	.009
1	(.009)	(.013)	(.029)	(.02)	(.017)	(.017)
Constant	.021	069**	096	039	00ĺ	04
	(.017)	(.021)	(.059)	(.042)	(.011)	(.03)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.057	.057	.088	.134	.073	.07

#### Table 13: Full model OLS regressions – Overconfidence Extension [-3d,+3d]

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns including overconfidence proxies. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR is accumulated [-3d,+3d] window. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. OI is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a company is classified as overconfident (Overconfident Industries), based on statistics presented in Table 11, and 0 otherwise. These three variables are used to construct interaction variables named as 'variable' + XOI. All event and variable definitions are provided in Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

CAR [-3d,+3d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	038	0	182	02	009	.017
	(.034)	(.038)	(.101)	(.054)	(.04)	(.04)
OI	017*	012	06	003	016	.011
	(.008)	(.015)	(.037)	(.017)	(.015)	(.009)
FemaleRatioXOI	.024	.03	.211*	017	.03	029
	(.025)	(.048)	(.106)	(.059)	(.038)	(.031)
Leverage	.017	.001	125**	.043*	.028***	.007
	(.014)	(.009)	(.052)	(.021)	(.005)	(.012)
ROA	.023	.266***	.169	028	126**	316***
	(.071)	(.07)	(.154)	(.148)	(.05)	(.081)
LnSales	.001	0	006	.002	002	001
	(.002)	(.001)	(.007)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)
TobinsQ	.001	.002**	001	.003	.001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001**	001*	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	0	001	0	001**
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.002	003	.021*	006	.002	0
	(.003)	(.004)	(.01)	(.008)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	004	.016	.022	057	026	036
_	(.011)	(.026)	(.061)	(.031)	(.024)	(.02)
Constant	.034	102*	.211*	.006	.056**	.018
	(.045)	(.049)	(.11)	(.038)	(.019)	(.031)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.028	.064	.106	.075	.075	.042
Min3FDs	- 007	002	- 053	- 002	- 004	- 004
MIIIJI Do	(004)	(006)	(031)	(011)	(003)	(007)
OI	- 013**	- 004	- 029	- 007	- 011	004
01	(005)	(008)	(023)	(013)	(006)	(004)
Min3FDsXOI	005	- 001	053	- 002	006**	0
Million Donion	(.005)	(.007)	(.035)	(.012)	(.002)	(.006)
Leverage	.017	0	126**	.043*	.028***	.007
8-	(.014)	(.01)	(.05)	(.021)	(.005)	(.012)
ROA	.021	.266***	.15	03	125**	314***
	(.07)	(.071)	(.16)	(.148)	(.052)	(.064)
LnSales	.001	0	004	.002	002	0
	(.002)	(.002)	(.008)	(.004)	(.003)	(.001)
TobinsO	.001	.002**	0	.003	.001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001**	001*	0
0	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	0	001	0	001*
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.002	003	.023*	006	.003	Ŭ 0
	(.003)	(.004)	(.01)	(.009)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	005	.016	.029	059*	024	033

Constant	(.011)	(.026)	(.054)	(.031)	(.024)	(.02)
Constant	.025	101**	.104	001	.033*	.021
Observations	(.04)	(.048)	(.09)	(.043)	(.028)	(.023)
R-squared	.027	.062	.112	.074	.075	.042
FemaleCEO	.002	.002	032**	.011	.006	.013*
	(.006)	(.002)	(.011)	(.007)	(.006)	(.007)
OI	012	005	01	005	008	.005
	(.006)	(.006)	(.034)	(.015)	(.007)	(.005)
FemaleCEOXOI	.008	.017**	.025	027*	003	011
	(.008)	(.005)	(.018)	(.013)	(.01)	(.007)
Leverage	.017	.002	129**	.042*	.028***	.007
	(.014)	(.01)	(.051)	(.022)	(.005)	(.012)
ROA	.026	.263***	.161	026	124**	322***
	(.068)	(.069)	(.15)	(.148)	(.052)	(.078)
LnSales	0	0	005	.002	002	001
	(.002)	(.001)	(.007)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)
TobinsQ	.001	.002***	0	.003	.001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001*	001	0
-	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	001	001	0	001*
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.001	003	.02*	006	.002	001
	(.003)	(.004)	(.01)	(.009)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	01	.015	.009	06	026	037*
-	(.01)	(.024)	(.064)	(.033)	(.023)	(.019)
Constant	.027	1*	.174	003	.054*	.02
	(.041)	(.047)	(.101)	(.041)	(.025)	(.025)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.027	.068	.102	.077	.075	.044

#### Table 14: Full model OLS regressions – ClosetoConsumers (CtC) Extension [-1d,+1d]

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns including a ClosetoConsumers industry proxy. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR is accumulated in the [-1d,+1d] window. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. CtC is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a company is classified as ClosetoConsumer based on Brammer, Millington & Pavelin (2007), and 0 otherwise. The main female variables are used to construct interaction variables named as 'variable' + XCtC. All event and variable definitions are provided in the Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

CAR [-1d,+1d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	019	003	038	034*	.001	011
	(.013)	(.012)	(.028)	(.015)	(.011)	(.025)
CtC	012***	.022***	055	.012	015**	027***
	(.002)	(.005)	(.034)	(.008)	(.005)	(.007)
FemaleRatioXCtC	.019	.015	025	.002	009	.069**
	(.013)	(.018)	(.123)	(.023)	(.014)	(.029)
Leverage	.017*	001	03	.002	005	022**
	(.009)	(.005)	(.02)	(.007)	(.01)	(.007)
ROA	047	.075**	.078	125	198*	367***
	(.038)	(.032)	(.137)	(.139)	(.098)	(.077)
LnSales	001	.002*	004	.004*	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	0	0	.001*
<i>T</i> T	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
lenure	0	0	001	001***	001	0
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(1001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	001	.019***	004	.006	002
PoardIndon Datio	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)
воагоппоеркано	.000	004	010	003	015	.009
Constant	(.01)	(.013)	(.028)	(.010)	(.013)	(.019)
Constant	.015	(024)	000	(038)	007	(023)
Observations	(.017)	(.024)	1020	(.030)	(.000)	1035
R-squared	045	067	1020	124	067	073
it oquared	.010	.007	.101		.007	.075
Min3FDs	005**	001	008	004	002	.003
	(.002)	(.004)	(.009)	(.003)	(.002)	(.005)
CtC	009***	.027***	051**	.015**	019***	013**
	(.002)	(.002)	(.019)	(.006)	(.003)	(.005)
Min3FDsXCtC	.004	002	02	007	.003	.009
	(.004)	(.003)	(.034)	(.006)	(.002)	(.009)
Leverage	.017*	001	03	.003	004	022**
0	(.009)	(.005)	(.019)	(.007)	(.01)	(.007)
ROA	05	.073*	.071	127	198*	363***
	(.04)	(.032)	(.144)	(.139)	(.098)	(.081)
LnSales	001	.002*	003	.004*	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.002)	(.001)
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	0	0	.001
	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	0
o	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	001	.019***	004	.006	003
	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)
BoardIndepRatio	.008	003	014	004	014	.006

Constant	(.01) .01	(.014) 078**	(.026) 074	(.015) 049	(.016) 009	(.018) 04
Observations	(.015)	(.025)	(.054)	(.04)	(.009)	(.027)
R-squared	.048	.067	.108	.124	.067	.073
FemaleCEO	.003	.006**	.001	.007	.007**	.004*
CtC	(.003) 007***	(.002) .028***	(.004) 064***	(.006) .011***	(.003) 019***	(.002) 008***
	(.002)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.002)	(.002)
FemaleCEOXCtC	003	01**	009	01	001	.006
	(.004)	(.004)	(.023)	(.006)	(.004)	(.009)
Leverage	.018*	001	029	.003	004	022**
0	(.009)	(.005)	(.02)	(.007)	(.01)	(.007)
ROA	046	.074**	.081	123	196*	37***
	(.038)	(.03)	(.134)	(.138)	(.096)	(.085)
LnSales	001	.002*	004	.004	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.005)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0
-	(.001)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	.001	0	.001
Ū.	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	Ő	001	001***	001	.001
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	001	.018***	005	.005	003
	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)
BoardIndepRatio	.004	004	023	009	017	.009
I	(.009)	(.012)	(.031)	(.016)	(.015)	(.017)
Constant	.013	078**	07Ź	049	00Ź	038
	(.015)	(.024)	(.05)	(.039)	(.008)	(.026)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.043	.069	.102	.122	.069	.071
## Table 15: Full model OLS regressions – ClosetoConsumers (CtC) Extension [-3d,+3d]

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns including a ClosetoConsumers industry proxy. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR is accumulated in the [-3d,+3d] window. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. CtC is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a company is classified as ClosetoConsumer based on Brammer, Millington & Pavelin (2007), and 0 otherwise. The main female variables are used to construct interaction variables named as 'variable' + XCtC. All event and variable definitions are provided in the Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

CAR [-3d,+3d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
L / J	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	036*	.008	032	034*	.012	001
	(.019)	(.022)	(.059)	(.015)	(.024)	(.029)
CtC	011	.025***	038	.024	.016*	029
	(.014)	(.007)	(.035)	(.026)	(.008)	(.022)
FemaleRatioXCtC	.045	.01	068	005	024	.022
	(.048)	(.023)	(.149)	(.076)	(.027)	(.078)
Leverage	.018	003	119**	.041	.027***	.011
0	(.015)	(.009)	(.045)	(.022)	(.006)	(.009)
ROA	.021	.271***	.148	044	135**	296***
	(.071)	(.071)	(.153)	(.152)	(.052)	(.068)
LnSales	.001	.001	006	.002	002	001
	(.001)	(.001)	(.007)	(.003)	(.002)	(.001)
TobinsQ	.001	.002	001	.002	0	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001*	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	0	001	0	001*
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.002	003	.021*	006	.002	0
	(.004)	(.004)	(.01)	(.008)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	.001	.017	.019	05	021	039*
	(.014)	(.024)	(.081)	(.034)	(.026)	(.019)
Constant	.016	115**	.199	003	.046*	.032
	(.041)	(.048)	(.119)	(.041)	(.024)	(.032)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.017	.069	.105	.075	.07	.045
Min3FDs	006*	.001	012	001	.001	001
0.0	(.003)	(.004)	(.016)	(.004)	(.004)	(.006)
CtC	003	.03***	028	.028**	.014***	016**
M AED MOR	(.005)	(.006)	(.024)	(.011)	(.003)	(.007)
MinoFDsACtC	.006	002	047	013	008**	01
Τ	(.008)	(.007)	(.052)	(.012)	(.005)	(.012)
Leverage	.018	003	$12^{12}$	.041	.02/3000	.01
ROA	(.014)	(.009) <b>2</b> 71***	(.044)	(.022)	(.000) 134**	(.009) 207***
<b>KO</b> <i>I</i>	.017	(071)	(166)	043	154	(06)
I pSalas	(.073)	(.071)	(.100)	(.149)	(.03)	(.00)
LIISales	.001	(002)	004	.002	002	001
TobinsO	001	(.002)	(.000)	(.003)	(.003)	(.001)
TODIIISQ	(001)	(001)	(004)	(002)	(001)	(001)
Age	(.001)	0	(.00+)	- 001**	- 001	(.001)
1180	(001)	(001)	(001)	001	001	(III)
Tenure	0	- 001	0	- 001	0	- 001*
I CHILLE	(i)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP Dir	.002	003	.022*	006	.002	0
	(.003)	(.004)	(.01)	(.008)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	.001	.019	.028	053	019	035

	(.013)	(.025)	(.076)	(.033)	(.026)	(.02)
Constant	.009	111**	.196	007	.049	.036
	(.037)	(.048)	(.128)	(.042)	(.03)	(.032)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.015	.069	.111	.075	.071	.047
FemaleCEO	.009*	.011**	009	.001	.004*	.008
	(.004)	(.004)	(.009)	(.011)	(.002)	(.006)
CtC	0	.029***	052***	.021**	.009***	023***
	(.002)	(.002)	(.009)	(.008)	(.002)	(.003)
FemaleCEOXCtC	007*	009*	031	006	.001	001
	(.004)	(.005)	(.028)	(.022)	(.003)	(.016)
Leverage	.019	003	12**	.041	.028***	.012
	(.014)	(.009)	(.045)	(.023)	(.006)	(.009)
ROA	.023	.271***	.143	043	133**	297***
	(.074)	(.073)	(.157)	(.152)	(.053)	(.069)
LnSales	.001	.001	006	.002	002	001
	(.002)	(.001)	(.007)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)
TobinsQ	0	.002*	0	.002	0	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001*	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	0	001	0	001*
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.002	003	.022*	006	.002	0
	(.003)	(.004)	(.01)	(.008)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	004	.018	.015	056	021	04*
-	(.012)	(.023)	(.079)	(.035)	(.025)	(.019)
Constant	.013	111**	.184	011	.047	.035
	(.038)	(.047)	(.107)	(.042)	(.028)	(.029)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.016	.072	.106	.073	.071	.047

## Table 16: Full model OLS regressions - LnSales Extension [-1d,+1d]

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns including size proxy. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR is accumulated in the [-1d,+1d] window. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. The main female variables are used to construct interaction variables named as 'variable' + XLnSales. All event and variable definitions are provided in the Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

CAR [-1d,+1d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	035	.078	185**	087	065	105
	(.034)	(.043)	(.075)	(.071)	(.065)	(.096)
FemaleRatioXLnSales	.003	011	.02*	.009	.009	.017
	(.004)	(.007)	(.009)	(.011)	(.01)	(.012)
Leverage	.016*	.002	038	.005	007	022***
	(.009)	(.007)	(.027)	(.008)	(.01)	(.006)
ROA	046	.068**	.095	113	202*	368***
	(.038)	(.029)	(.137)	(.141)	(.097)	(.078)
LnSales	002	.004	008	.001	003	004
	(.002)	(.003)	(.006)	(.004)	(.004)	(.004)
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	0	0	.001*
	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)

Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	0
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	001	.018***	004	.005	003
	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)
BoardIndepRatio	.007	004	016	004	015	.009
	(.01)	(.012)	(.029)	(.017)	(.015)	(.019)
Constant	.019	092***	045	022	.005	011
	(.023)	(.027)	(.059)	(.054)	(.02)	(.014)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.044	.055	.092	.123	.063	.071
Min3FDs	002	.022*	018	028*	023*	011
	(.007)	(.01)	(.028)	(.013)	(.012)	(.023)
Min3FDsXLnSales	0	003**	.001	.003*	.003	.002
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.002)	(.003)
Leverage	.016	.001	039	.006	006	022***
	(.009)	(.007)	(.026)	(.007)	(.011)	(.006)
ROA	049	.067**	.086	113	201*	359***
	(.039)	(.029)	(.139)	(.141)	(.098)	(.074)
LnSales	0	.003*	002	.002	002	001
	(.001)	(.002)	(.006)	(.002)	(.002)	(.002)
TobinsQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	0	0	.001*
	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	0
	(0)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.003	0	.018***	004	.005	003
D 17 1 D '	(.002)	(.003)	(.005)	(.006)	(.005)	(.007)
BoardIndepRatio	.008	002	013	006	015	.005
	(.01)	(.014)	(.027)	(.016)	(.016)	(.019)
Constant	.008	084***	099*	034	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ (012) \end{pmatrix}$	031
	(.015)	(.023)	(.05)	(.045)	(.013)	(.02)
Observations D	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
K-squared	.040	.057	.092	.124	.065	.072
FemaleCEO	.013*	.03*	.012	.018	002	008
	(.006)	(.013)	(.035)	(.02)	(.018)	(.024)
FemaleCEOXLnSales	002	004*	002	002	.001	.002
Ŧ	(.001)	(.002)	(.005)	(.002)	(.002)	(.003)
Leverage	.016*	.002	04	.004	007	023***
DOA	(.009)	(.006)	(.027)	(.007)	(.01)	(.006)
KOA	043	.069**	.1	12	206*	3/***
тет	(.038)	(.028)	(.132)	(.141)	(.096)	(.086)
LnSales	001	.002*	003	.004	001	0
TalingO	(.001)	(1001)	(.006)	(.002)	(.002)	(.002)
TODINSQ	0	0	.004	.001	.002**	0
A	(.001)	(1001)	(.002)	(.001)	(1001)	(.001)
лge	0	0	.001	0	0	.001
T	(0)	(0)	(.001)	(U)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	0	001	001***	001	.001
	(0)	(1001)	(.001)	(0)	(.001)	(.001)
OtnerBoardsP. Dir	.002	001	.01/**	005	.005	002
Decudital Dec	(.002)	(.002)	(.005)	(.007)	(.005)	(.007)
DoardIndepKatio	.004	004	024	01	01/	.009
Constant	(.009)	(.012)	(.032)	(.017)	(.015)	(.01/)
Constant	.009	074***	098	048	012	038
01	(.015)	(.022)	(.057)	(.042)	(.014)	(.024)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.042	.057	.087	.121	.064	.07

## Table 17: Full model OLS regressions – LnSales Extension [-3d,+3d]

Female board representation and cumulative abnormal returns including size proxy. The dependent variable is CAR for all events. CAR is accumulated in the [-3d,+3d] window. All events and variable data are from 2020 and include US-listed S&P 1500 firms, but exclude financial firms. FemaleRatio is the percentage of female directors relative to total board size. Min3FDs is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if at least three female directors sit on a board, and 0 otherwise. FemaleCEO is a dummy variable, which equals 1 if a firms' CEO is female. These three variables are used to construct interaction variables named as 'variable' + XLnSales. All event and variable definitions are provided in the Appendix, Table A. Industry dummy variables are included in all models. Continuous variables are winsorised at the 5% level. Robust standard errors are in parentheses. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate significance at the 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively.

CAR [-3d,+3d]	Event 1	Event 2	Event 3	Event 4	Event 5	Event 6
	HED	PMD	PSD	PUD	RSD	JBD
FemaleRatio	093	.117	273	023	019	098
	(.06)	(.073)	(.173)	(.121)	(.047)	(.065)
FemaleRatioXLnSales	.011	016	.033	001	.004	.015
	(008)	(009)	(027)	(017)	(008)	(009)
Leverage	019	0	- 125**	044*	029***	008
Leverage	(014)	(01)	(051)	(023)	(005)	(011)
ROA	019	264***	167	- 032	- 126**	- 309***
ROM	(075)	.204	(140)	(155)	(052)	(074)
LeSalos	(.073)	(.07)	(.149)	(.155)	(.032)	(.074)
LIISales	002	.003	(012)	.002	003	003
TabingO	(.004)	(.003)	(.012)	(.000)	(.004)	(.003)
TobilisQ	.001	.002	001	.002	(001)	(001)
A = -	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001	001	0
T	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
l'enure	0	001	001	001	0	001**
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(1001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.002	003	.021*	005	.002	001
	(.003)	(.004)	(.011)	(.008)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	.001	.018	.018	051	022	039*
	(.014)	(.024)	(.082)	(.035)	(.026)	(.02)
Constant	.036	136**	.243	.001	.055	.053
	(.048)	(.043)	(.143)	(.068)	(.033)	(.034)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.017	.064	.102	.073	.069	.041
Min3FDs	.003	.023	.009	.001	006	011
	(.005)	(.017)	(.059)	(.022)	(.014)	(.016)
Min3FDsXLnSales	001	003	005	001	.001	.001
	(.001)	(.002)	(.008)	(.003)	(.002)	(.003)
Leverage	.017	001	13**	.044*	.029***	.007
	(.014)	(.011)	(.05)	(.023)	(.005)	(.011)
ROA	.017	.264***	.146	034	127**	311***
	(.073)	(.069)	(.155)	(.156)	(.05)	(.066)
LnSales	.002	.002	001	.002	002	001
	(.002)	(.002)	(.008)	(.003)	(.003)	(.002)
TobinsQ	.001	.002*	0	.002	0	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001*	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	001	001	0	001*
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.002	002	.022*	006	.003	0
	(.003)	(.004)	(.011)	(.009)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	.001	.019	.03	054	02	035
-	(.013)	(.024)	(.078)	(.034)	(.026)	(.02)
Constant	.007	116**	.139	008	.053	.03
	(.036)	(.046)	(.122)	(.046)	(.034)	(.028)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035

R-squared	.015	.063	.105	.072	.069	.041
FemaleCEO	.027	.066***	.063	.006	.023	.008
	(.021)	(.017)	(.072)	(.038)	(.018)	(.02)
FemaleCEOXLnSales	003	008***	012	001	003	0
	(.003)	(.002)	(.009)	(.004)	(.002)	(.002)
Leverage	.018	0	131**	.044*	.029***	.007
-	(.014)	(.01)	(.052)	(.022)	(.005)	(.011)
ROA	.025	.266***	.165	032	131**	317***
	(.072)	(.071)	(.147)	(.157)	(.052)	(.079)
LnSales	.001	.002	003	.002	002	001
	(.002)	(.002)	(.008)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)
TobinsQ	0	.002*	001	.002	0	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.004)	(.002)	(.001)	(.001)
Age	0	0	0	001*	001	0
	(.001)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Tenure	0	001	001	001	0	001*
	(0)	(.001)	(.003)	(.001)	(.001)	(0)
OtherBoardsP. Dir	.001	004	.019*	006	.002	001
	(.004)	(.004)	(.009)	(.009)	(.006)	(.005)
BoardIndepRatio	004	.019	.015	056	021	039*
	(.013)	(.022)	(.082)	(.036)	(.025)	(.019)
Constant	.009	112**	.156	006	.047	.027
	(.038)	(.044)	(.117)	(.047)	(.031)	(.03)
Observations	1030	1020	1020	1024	1025	1035
R-squared	.016	.07	.103	.071	.071	.042